### DISSERTATION

# DEEP TRANSFER LEARNING FOR PREDICTION OF HEALTH RISK BEHAVIORS IN ADOLESCENT PSYCHIATRIC PATIENTS

Submitted by

Shane Kentopp

Department of Psychology

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Summer 2021

Doctoral Committee:

Advisor: Bradley T. Conner

Mark A. Prince Kimberly L. Henry Charles W. Anderson Copyright by Shane Kentopp 2021 All Rights Reserved

#### ABSTRACT

# DEEP TRANSFER LEARNING FOR PREDICTION OF HEALTH RISK BEHAVIORS IN ADOLESCENT PSYCHIATRIC PATIENTS

Binge drinking and non-suicidal self-injury are significant health-risk behaviors that are often initiated during adolescence and contribute to a host of negative outcomes later in life. Selective prevention strategies are targeted toward individuals most at-risk for developing these behaviors. Traditionally, selective interventions are tailored based on risk factors identified by human experts. Machine learning algorithms, such as deep neural networks, may improve the effectiveness of selective interventions by accounting for complex interactions between large numbers of predictor variables. However, their use in psychological research is limited due to the tendency to overfit and the need for large volumes of training data. Deep transfer learning can overcome this limitation by leveraging samples of convenience to facilitate training deep neural networks in small, clinically relevant samples. The author trained deep neural networks on data from a sample of adolescent psychiatric inpatients to retrospectively classify individuals according to their history of alcohol misuse and nonsuicidal self-injury. Next, the performance of these models was compared to deep neural networks that were pretrained in a convenience sample of college undergraduates and fine-tuned in the sample of psychiatric patients. Deep transfer learning did not improve classification accuracy but buffered against overfitting. The deep neural networks that were not pretrained maintained maximum classification accuracy for a very small number of training epochs before performance deteriorated due to overfitting the training data. Conversely, the pretrained networks maintained their maximum classification

ii

accuracy across many training epochs and performance was not hindered by overfitting. This suggests that convenience samples can be utilized to reduce the risk of overfitting when training complex deep neural networks on small clinical samples. In the future, this process may be employed to facilitate powerful predictive models that inform selective prevention programs and contribute to the reduction of health risk behavior prevalence amongst vulnerable adolescent populations.

*Keywords*: self-injury, binge drinking, deep learning, deep neural networks, transfer learning

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many individuals have generously supported me during this dissertation and my doctoral education. I would like to thank my advisor, Bradley Conner, for his many years of mentorship, motivation, guidance, and friendship. I would also like to thank the members of my dissertation committee: Mark Prince, Kimberly Henry, and Chuck Anderson. All of them are esteemed scientists and brilliant teachers. I am honored to have had the opportunity to learn from them. Finally, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Rachel Rebecca and the staff at Mountain Crest Behavioral Healthcare Center for allowing me to collect data and for working tirelessly to improve the lives of young people who struggle with mental health problems.

## DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my wife Stacy, who continuously inspires me to do my best. She has provided a steadfast belay during this long and difficult climb. It is also dedicated to my children, Sophia and James, who keep me young and remind me what's important.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. iv
DEDICATION	v
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
Chapter 1 – Introduction	1
Chapter 2 – Review of the Literature	3
Prevention, Prediction, and Deep Transfer Learning	3
Nonsuicidal Self-Injury	3
Binge Drinking	6
Prevention and Machine Learning	9
Deep Learning	. 11
Transfer Learning	. 16
Present Study	. 19
Chapter 3 – Methodology	. 21
Participants	. 21
College Sample	. 21
Clinical Sample	. 22
Measures	. 23
Personality	. 23
Health Risk Behavior	. 25
Analysis Plan	. 26
Sample Size	. 26
Data Visualization	. 26
Deep Learning Models	. 29
Chapter 4 – Results	. 34
Data Visualization	. 34
t-SNE	. 34
Regression Weights	. 35
Deep Neural Networks	. 37
College Sample	. 37
Clinical Sample	. 42
Chapter 5 – Discussion	57
REFERENCES	65
APPENDICES	. 83
Appendix 1-A Variables Included in Analyses	. 84
Appendix 2-A Potential Outliers and Their 95th Percentiles	. 93

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1-	DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS	22
TABLE 2-	FINE-TUNING CROSS-VALIDATION RESULTS (BINGE DRINKING	45
TABLE 3-	FINE-TUNING CROSS-VALIDATION RESULTS (NSSI)	53

## LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1-	"SHALLOW" FULLY CONNECTED FEEDFORWARD NEURAL	
	NETWORK WITH ONE HIDDEN LAYER	. 13
FIGURE 2-	"DEEP" FULLY CONNECTED FEEDFORWARD NEURAL NETWORK	
	WITH MANY HIDDEN LAYERS	. 16
FIGURE 3-	T-SNE PLOTS (BINGE DRINKING)	. 34
FIGURE 4-	T-SNE PLOTS (NSSI)	. 35
FIGURE 5-	STANDARDIZED REGRESSION WEIGHTS BY SAMPLE (BINGE	
	DRINKING)	. 36
FIGURE 6-	STANDARDIZED REGRESSION WEIGHTS BY SAMPLE (NSSI)	. 37
FIGURE 7-	CROSS-VALIDATED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY (BINGE	
	DRINKING - COLLEGE SAMPLE)	. 38
FIGURE 8-	TRAINING HISTORY BY EPOCH (BINGE DRINKING – COLLEGE	
	SAMPLE	. 39
FIGURE 9-	CROSS-VALIDATED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY (NSSI –	
	COLLEGE SAMPLE)	. 40
FIGURE 10-	TRAINING HISTORY BY EPOCH (NSSI – COLLEGE SAMPLE)	. 41
FIGURE 11-	CROSS-VALIDATED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY AND BINARY	
	CROSS-ENTROPY (BINGE DRINKING – BASELINE MODEL)	. 43
FIGURE 12-	HISTOGRAM OF BOOTSTRAPPED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY	
	(BINGE DRINKING – BASELINE MODEL)	. 44
FIGURE 13-	CROSS-VALIDATED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY AND BINARY	
	CROSS-ENTROPY (BINGE DRINKING – TRANSFER MODEL)	. 46
FIGURE 14-	HISTOGRAM OF BOOTSTRAPPED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY	
	(BINGE DRINKING – TRANSFER MODEL)	. 47
FIGURE 15-	VARIABLE IMPORTANCE, PARTIAL DEPENDENCE, AND ICE PLOTS	
	(BINGE DRINKING – TRANSFER MODEL)	. 49
FIGURE 16-	CROSS-VALIDATED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY AND BINARY	
	CROSS-ENTROPY (NSSI – BASELINE MODEL)	. 51
FIGURE 17-	HISTOGRAM OF BOOTSTRAPPED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY	
	(NSSI – BASELINE MODEL)	. 52
FIGURE 18-	CROSS-VALIDATED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY AND BINARY	
	CROSS-ENTROPY (NSSI – TRANSFER MODEL)	. 54
FIGURE 19-	HISTOGRAM OF BOOTSTRAPPED CLASSIFICATION ACCURACY	
	(NSSI – TRANSFER MODEL)	. 55
FIGURE 20-	VARIABLE IMPORTANCE, PARTIAL DEPENDENCE, AND ICE PLOTS	
	(NSSI – TRANSFER MODEL)	. 56

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

Health risk behaviors, such as alcohol misuse and nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI) are significant public health concerns that disproportionately impact adolescents and young adults (Eaton et al., 2012). Binge drinking, consuming enough alcohol in a single occasion to raise one's blood alcohol concentration (BAC) above 0.08%, is especially risky when begun during adolescence (S. A. Jones et al., 2018). Initiation of binge drinking during this critical period impacts neurodevelopmental processes (Squeglia et al., 2009) and is associated with a host of negative psychosocial outcomes in adulthood (Viner & Taylor, 2007). NSSI, causing deliberate self-harm without the intent to die, similarly confers risk for morbidity and mortality (L. K. Brown et al., 2008; Buser et al., 2017), is linked to multiple internalizing and externalizing disorders (Nock et al., 2006), and is a cardinal risk-factor for death by suicide (Joiner et al., 2012). Selective prevention approaches are effective for reducing binge drinking rates among adolescents (Conrod et al., 2008) and are promising for reducing rates of NSSI, as well (Heath et al., 2014). However, current practice for developing selective interventions is based on identification of risk factors by subject matter experts and is limited by the ability of human experts to consider low-order combinations of a few variables simultaneously. Deep learning (DL) is a powerful predictive algorithm that can improve targeting of prevention efforts to at-risk individuals by accounting for complex nonlinear interactions between large numbers of predictors (Skansi, 2018). However, DL is rarely used in psychological research due to the paucity of available training data and the tendency to overfit that data (Dwyer et al., 2018). Deep transfer learning is a technique that may be able to leverage the convenience samples often

studied by psychologists to overcome this problem. This will allow for the implementation of DL in selective prevention programs.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### Prevention, Prediction, and Deep Transfer Learning

#### Nonsuicidal Self-Injury

NSSI refers to the deliberate self-directed act of bodily harm without the intent of taking one's own life (Nock, 2009). Rates of NSSI typically peak during adolescence (Plener et al., 2015), but data suggest the presence of a secondary peak in prevalence of NSSI among young adults (Kiekens et al., 2019). Thus, NSSI is a phenomenon that is uniquely relevant to both adolescents and young adults. Although scientists and philosophers have deliberated about the nature of self-harm throughout history (Nock et al., 2009), current theories on NSSI point to a decisional balance between the perceived benefits of NSSI and the barriers to engaging in such behaviors (Hooley & Franklin, 2018). Individuals who endorse NSSI report various positive consequences associated with the behavior. NSSI is a powerful regulator of negative affect, fulfills an individual's need to punish themself, signals group affiliation (a particularly salient benefit during adolescence), and communicates messages of distress or strength. Despite these perceived benefits, most people do not partake in NSSI because of several instinctive barriers, including avoidance of pain, social norms, and avoidance of NSSI stimuli (blood, etc.).

NSSI represents a significant public health burden (Glenn et al., 2017; Muehlenkamp et al., 2012). Prevalence of NSSI amongst adolescents and young adults had increased steadily year after year until the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting public health restrictions (Hasking et al., 2021; Plener, 2021; Tang et al., 2021). During the pandemic, rates of NSSI increased exponentially. For instance, one sample of Taiwanese adolescents reported a

prevalence of 41% (Tang et al., 2021). These trends are concerning because NSSI is associated with elevated risk for internalizing, externalizing, substance use, and personality disorders (Nock et al., 2006). NSSI is a common deleterious outcome that cuts across several vulnerable subpopulations. Individuals with developmental disabilities and autism (Davies & Oliver, 2013; Maddox et al., 2017; Moseley et al., 2019) are more likely to engage in NSSI, as are individuals with schizophrenia (Mork et al., 2012), anxiety and depression (Klonsky & Moyer, 2008; Koposov et al., 2021), personality disorders (Patel et al., 2021), eating disorders (Claes & Muehlenkamp, 2016), and obsessive-compulsive disorder (Patel et al., 2021). NSSI is common among individuals exposed to all types of trauma, including violence, sexual abuse, and incarceration (Koposov et al., 2021. Transgender and LGBTQ youth are also at increased risk for NSSI (Jackman et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2019). Additionally, NSSI is a risk factor in and of itself for subsequent negative outcomes (Brown et al., 2008; Buser et al., 2017; Nock et al., 2006). Engagement in NSSI can result in injuries that are more severe than intended, including unintentional death (Buser et al., 2017). A history of NSSI places individuals at greater risk for contracting human immune deficiency virus (HIV; Brown et al., 2008). Critically, NSSI is a major risk factor for future suicide attempts and death by suicide (Joiner et al., 2012; Nock et al., 2006; Ribeiro et al., 2016a), a leading cause of death amongst adolescents (Centers for Disease Control [CDC], 2021). In fact, the risk conferred by a history of NSSI is as great as an individual's history of previous suicide attempts, a variable that was long upheld as the most important predictor of suicide risk (Hooley & Franklin, 2018). Due to its relevance to the current study's adolescent population and robust associations with a vast range of comorbidities and negative outcomes, this research examined NSSI as one of the primary study outcomes.

The simplest way to operationalize NSSI is to assess for the lifetime presence of the behavior (the "ever/never" question), but there are other important factors to consider as well, including frequency, severity, age at onset, function, and method. Naturally, individuals who engage in more frequent (Anestis et al., 2015) and severe (Jenkins et al., 2011) NSSI experience worse outcomes in both the short and long term. Similarly, individuals with a longer history of NSSI who initiate the behavior at a young age are more likely to face negative consequences, including death by suicide (Ammerman et al., 2018; Nock et al., 2006). Thorough assessment of NSSI should include an understanding of the role the behavior serves for the individual, or its functional aspect (Nock & Printstein, 2004). There is a rich history of scientific inquiry into the functions of self-injurious behavior (M. Z. Brown et al., 2002; Favazza, 1998; Nock & Prinstein, 2004) and this work has informed current conceptualizations of NSSI, such as the benefits and barriers model (Hooley & Franklin, 2018). An assessment of the different methods of NSSI (e.g., cutting, burning, hair pulling, etc.) is also important because the number of different NSSI methods is one of the strongest predictors of future suicide attempts (Anestis et al., 2015; Jenkins et al., 2011; Nock et al., 2006).

Given the many salient facets of NSSI, and the complicated interactions between them (Anestis et al., 2015), a multidimensional approach to assessing NSSI is ideal. For example, the Self-Injurious Thoughts and Behaviors Interview (SITBI; Nock et al., 2007) queries the presence, frequency, age at onset, and function of NSSI behaviors in a structured interview format. The Form and Function of Self-Injury Scale (FAFSI; Jenkins et al., 2011) assess those same factors, as well as methods of NSSI in a self-report format. Because the current study comprised secondary data analyses, the selection of an operational definition of NSSI was limited by the data available. Furthermore, the nature of the analyses required two samples with

matching variables. This means that only the intersection of two sets of variables could be analyzed, further limiting the options for measuring NSSI. As a matter of fact, some items from the FAFSI were given to many individuals in the two samples (e.g., age at onset), but there were also many participants who were not administered any FAFSI items except for lifetime presence (the "ever/never" question). Due to the nature of the analyses performed, it was possible to include these FAFSI items as predictors by imputing missing values. However, it was not possible to include them as outcome variables. Therefore, a single item measuring lifetime presence was selected as the operational definition of NSSI.

#### **Binge Drinking**

Alcohol is the most prevalent substance used by adolescents (Johnston, 2021). Problematic drinking is the third most common preventable cause of death in the United States (National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism [NIAAA], 2021) and leads to impairments in psychological (Shivani et al., 2002), and physical (World Health Organization [WHO], 2019) health. Alcohol use is frequently involved in emergency department visits and plays a role in one out of five opioid overdoses (Jones et al., 2014). Binge drinking is an especially risky form of drinking (Viner & Taylor, 2007) that commonly refers to a pattern of intermittent heavy alcohol consumption (DeJong, 2003). However, the National Institute of Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism define binge drinking as drinking enough alcohol in a single occasion to raise one's blood alcohol concentration (BAC) above 0.08%. Binge drinking is particularly harmful when initiated in adolescence (Jones et al., 2018). Longitudinal data show that binge drinking during adolescence prospectively predicts substance use disorders, other mental health disorders, legal involvement, probability of homelessness, and poor occupational achievement in adulthood (Viner & Taylor, 2007). Given the profound public health impacts of binge drinking and the intensification of those effects by adolescent initiation, this research examined binge drinking as one of the primary outcomes in this study.

There is some dispute about how to best measure binge drinking. The definition used most often in the literature is consuming more than four drinks for females or five drinks for males (Read et al., 2008). Some researchers argue that this definition neglects many important variables, including duration of the drinking episode and body mass of the individual drinker (DeJong, 2003). As a result, previous studies have demonstrated that many individuals who meet this criterion do not have blood alcohol content high enough to cause significant impairment (e.g., Lange & Voas, 2001). It has also been shown that many individuals, especially among college students, drink quantities far greater than the traditional five drink cut-off (Read et al., 2008). Consequently, the phenomenon of high intensity drinking (drinking two or more times the traditional cutoff for binge drinking) has been highlighted as a potentially more relevant construct (Patrick & Azar, 2018).

It is worth noting that this debate has largely played out in the literature on drinking in adults, and the majority of previous studies have utilized adult samples (e.g., White et al., 2006). Creswell et al. (2020) found that high intensity drinking is associated with more negative outcomes in adolescents than it is in adults. But, there is comparatively little extant research to inform the conceptual definition of binge drinking in adolescence, and caution is warranted when generalizing to this unique population. For instance, despite indications that high intensity drinking is a useful construct for study in adults, it is rare amongst teenagers (Patrick & Terry-McElrath, 2019). In fact, only 3% of 10th graders endorse high intensity drinking (Mehus & Patrick, 2020). However, binge drinking (as defined by the traditional four/five drink cut-off) still confers significant risk (Viner & Taylor, 2007) and occurs at rates high enough to be

feasibly studied (Patrick & Terry-McElrath, 2019). Furthermore, there are important physiological difference between adults and adolescents that inform the debate about binge drinking definitions. Donovan (2009) provides calculations for the number of drinks required for boys and girls of various ages to meet the 0.08 BAC level established for binge drinking by the NIAAA. In general, BAC increases more rapidly for children and adolescents than for adults, and fewer drinks are required to reach 0.08% BAC for the younger group.

There is yet another faction of alcohol researchers who argue that it is more clinically relevant to define problematic drinking by alcohol-related consequences rather than by an arbitrary number of drinks (DeJong, 2003). Alcohol related consequences are typically assessed across eight dimensions: social consequences, impaired control, self-perception, self-care, risky behavior, occupational consequences, physical dependence, and blackout drinking (Read et al., 2006). These consequences are predictive of future alcohol use disorder diagnoses (Read et al., 2008). This is reflected in the diagnostic criteria for alcohol use disorder, which do not refer at all to quantity of drinks, but rather the disruptions caused by an individual's drinking (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). Similarly, validated diagnostic tests, such as the Michigan Alcohol Screening Test (MAST; Selzer, 1971) and the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT; Bohn et al., 19995), emphasize the importance of alcohol-related consequences rather than focusing exclusively on quantity.

Given the ongoing debate, the best way to define binge drinking remains an open question. However, there are some central ideas that are widely accepted. Firstly, the construct is based on BAC and criteria based on quantities of drinks are proxies for this (NIAAA, 2021). Nevertheless, the NIAAA guidance specifically states that for most adults this is equivalent to four/five drinks within 2 hours. Several studies support the notion that drinking beyond this

level, so called "high intensity drinking," is associated with more extreme negative outcomes in both adults (White et al., 2006) and adolescents (Mehus & Patrick, 2020). But the low base rate of high intensity drinking in adolescents makes it difficult to study (Patrick & Terry-McElrath, 2019). When considering adolescent binge drinking, it is important to remember that fewer drinks lead to higher BAC, and to use age-appropriate cut-offs (Donovan, 2009). Finally, consequences of alcohol use, rather than simply quantity, should be considered as well (Read et al., 2006; Read et al., 2008).

An ideal operationalization of binge drinking should incorporate all these elements. However, the current study was a secondary data analysis and faced several constraints (see Chapter 3 for further details). Within the available data, binge drinking was assessed using the common four/five cutoff for adults. Consequences of alcohol use were not assessed in this data set and could not be incorporated into the operational definition of binge drinking. High intensity drinking was not assessed either. However, because the typical adult cutoffs were applied to an adolescent population, it is safe to assume that the level of drinking measured was somewhat higher than the traditional notion of binge drinking. Ultimately, binge drinking was operationalized as lifetime presence of consuming four drinks for females or five drinks for males.

#### **Prevention and Machine Learning**

Efforts to prevent NSSI and binge drinking can be broadly classified into universal and selective approaches (Kuntsche et al., 2017). Universal prevention strategies are not concerned with identifying at-risk individuals, but rather apply the same intervention to an entire population. For example, a program to teach psychosocial coping skills with the intention to prevent alcohol use might be applied to every middle school student in a given region (Mewton

et al., 2018). In contrast, selective prevention strategies are targeted at individuals believed to be at-risk for a given behavior (Kuntsche et al., 2017). The PreVenture program using personality traits to target interventions to specific groups has been moderately successful in preventing binge drinking among adolescents (Conrod et al., 2008). However, compared to binge drinking, very little research has been done on prevention of NSSI, selective or otherwise (Heath et al., 2014).

Targeted prevention requires understanding of risk factors for a given behavior (Heath et al., 2014), and there are several risk factors that are common to both binge drinking and NSSI. Several personality traits have been linked to NSSI and binge drinking, including sensation seeking, a personality trait that involves a desire for novel and intense experiences (Doumas et al., 2017; Kentopp et al, 2021). Impulsivity is another such trait (Glenn & Klonsky, 2010; Shin et al., 2012). Impulsivity is a multidimensional construct that encompasses negative urgency, lack of premeditation, lack of perseverance, sensation seeking, and positive urgency (Whiteside & Lynam, 2001). Various combinations of these facets of impulsivity are related to NSSI (Glenn & Klonsky, 2010) and binge drinking (Shin et al., 2012). Emotion dysregulation, or difficulty managing the content or experience of one's emotions in order to achieve long-term goals (Gross 1999), is another trait with well-known relations to NSSI and binge drinking (Lannoy et al., 2021; McKenzie & Gross, 2014). In addition to personality variables, past health-risk behavior is highly predictive of current binge drinking (Norman & Conner, 2006) and NSSI (Glenn & Klonsky, 2010).

Prevention science research shows that selective approaches tend to be more effective than universal approaches (Gottfredson & Wilson, 2003). But selective prevention is limited by current understanding of risk factors for the target behavior (Conrod et al., 2008). Typically,

developing a secondary prevention program involves lengthy review of the scientific literature on a target behavior by subject matter experts and the identification of important risk factors (see Akyea et al. (2020) for an example of this process for preventing adverse cardiovascular events). However, mere knowledge of risk factors is of limited utility. An illustrative example is the prediction of suicide, an outcome closely related to NSSI. There is a robust literature on risk factors for suicide and it is straightforward to identify individuals who are "at risk," but only a fraction of those individuals will actually attempt suicide (Pokorny, 1983; Van Orden et al., 2010). One reason for this phenomenon is that current theories of engagement in health-risk behaviors such as NSSI and binge drinking are limited by the emphasis in psychological research on explanation rather than prediction (Yarkoni & Westfall, 2017). Explanatory models are limited by the ability of human experts to consider relatively few variables simultaneously. Machine learning (ML), an automated predictive modelling technique, searches highdimensional data for complex interactions between large numbers of explanatory variables and is only limited by the data that is available (Kuhn & Johnson, 2013). Applying this technique to prevention can improve the efficacy of selective interventions by moving beyond the limitations of our current knowledge of risk factors. ML has recently been incorporated into selective prevention of medical conditions such as Alzheimer's disease (Angehrn et al., 2018; Langford et al., 2020) and lung cancer (Rizzo et al., 2020), but has not yet been adopted for prevention of health-risk behaviors such as NSSI and binge drinking.

#### **Deep Learning**

ML is defined as the process of a computer program becoming better at a given task with experience (Mitchell, 1997). ML algorithms improve the accuracy of predicting an outcome from a set of explanatory variables over the course of observing several training examples (James et

al., 2013; Kuhn & Johnson, 2013). ML algorithms consume training data and generate predictive models. New data are then supplied as inputs to the model and predictions of the outcome are generated as output. The performance of an ML model is judged on the accuracy of its predictions in new unseen test data. For example, media streaming services use ML to predict what kind of content users will enjoy (Melville & Sindhwani, 2010). An ML model is trained on a user's preferences and ratings of previous content and the model predicts the user's ratings of new content. The model is considered successful if its predictions match the user's actual ratings of new content that was not included in the set of examples on which the model was trained.

DL is a powerful form of ML that has advanced the state of the art in many domains. For a thorough and accessible review of DL, we refer the reader to LeCun et al. (2015). DL refers to a specific type of ML: artificial neural networks with multiple hidden layers (Skansi, 2018). A neural network is a nonlinear ML algorithm that is made up of interconnected layers of units or nodes (Kuhn & Johnson, 2013; LeCun et al., 2015; Skansi, 2018). See Figure 1 for an example of a "shallow" neural network (i.e., a network that contains a single hidden layer).



Figure 1. "Shallow" fully connected feedforward neural network with one hidden layer.

The first layer in a shallow neural network is referred to as the input layer and represents all the explanatory variables in a data set (Kuhn & Johnson, 2013; LeCun et al., 2015; Skansi, 2018). No operations are performed in this layer; each unit simply takes on the value of the variable to which it corresponds. The next layer is referred to as the hidden layer. Each individual unit of the hidden layer receives the values contained in the first layer as input. The output, or activation, of each unit in the hidden layer is calculated in two steps. The first step in the activation of a single unit is equivalent to linear regression. The inputs are multiplied by their respective weights and added together, then a bias is added to the weighted sum. Weights and biases are analogous to betas and intercepts in a linear regression framework. In the second step, the sum of the bias and weighted inputs is passed through a nonlinear activation function, producing the unit's final output. The use of a nonlinear activation function, such as the

hyperbolic tangent function, gives neural networks the capability to model complex nonlinear relationships between variables. The final layer is referred to as the output layer and generates the model's predictions. For example, consider a neural network constructed to predict a binary categorical outcome. This is referred to as a "classification" problem in ML. The objective is to correctly predict the class, or level of the categorical outcome, to which an individual case belongs. In the case of a dichotomous outcome, the output layer consists of a single unit that represents the probability of membership in one of the two classes. This unit uses a sigmoid activation function to perform a logistic regression on the activations of the units in the hidden layer.

Training a neural network enables it to learn a mapping between a set of inputs and desired outputs through exposure to training data (Kuhn & Johnson, 2013; LeCun et al., 2015; Skansi, 2018). This is accomplished by finding the optimal combination of the model's parameters (i.e., weights and biases) through a procedure known as backpropagation. Backpropagation, short for "backward propagation of errors," consists of a forward pass and a backward pass. When the network is first constructed, all parameters are randomly initialized. Training data is fed into the network and an output is obtained; this is the "forward pass." The data used during training are already labeled with the correct value. This allows the prediction produced by the model to be compared to the actual value and the error of the prediction to be calculated. The average error over multiple training examples is summarized by an expression called a "loss function." Simple examples of loss functions that will be familiar to most readers are the sum of squared errors and mean squared error. The loss function provides a differentiable equation that represents the network's inaccuracy and can be minimized through gradient descent optimization. Gradient descent refers to the process of finding the partial derivatives that

describe the change in the loss function with respect to changes in each of the model's parameters. The changes that yield the largest reduction in the loss function are identified and the model's parameters are updated accordingly until the loss function reaches a minimum. This is called the "backward pass." A training "epoch" is complete when the network has been exposed to all training examples one time. Typically, neural networks are trained for multiple epochs (Chollet & Allaire, 2018).

DL models, also known as deep neural networks (DNNs), extend the shallow neural network by adding multiple hidden layers between the input and output layers (Kuhn & Johnson, 2013; LeCun et al., 2015; Skansi, 2018; see Figure 2). The outputs of each successive hidden layer in the network represent increasingly abstract representations of the input variables. For example, a DNN can be constructed to perform facial recognition on images (e.g., Schroff et al., 2015). Early hidden layers in the network, closer to the input layer, will represent very basic visual information such as lines, edges, and regions of lightness and darkness. Subsequent layers will combine these basic visual features into simple patterns. Layers deep in the network will combine the goal of facial recognition, such as prototypical noses, eyes, etc. The simple extension of a shallow neural network through the addition of hidden layers is called a fully connected feedforward network, or multilayer perceptron. More complex DNN architectures, such as convolutional and recurrent neural networks, confer even greater predictive power and flexibility.



Figure 2. "Deep" fully connected feedforward neural network with many hidden layers.

#### **Transfer Learning**

Despite their impressive performance, DL models are rarely applied to the fields of clinical psychology and psychiatry (Dwyer et al., 2018; Yarkoni & Westfall, 2017). All ML requires training data, and larger amounts of training data generally lead to more accurate models (Yarkoni & Westfall, 2017). Due to their complexity, DNNs are particularly data intensive (Dwyer et al., 2018). DNNs are highly parameterized, often requiring the optimization of thousands of parameters (Dwyer et al., 2018; LeCun et al., 2015). Because of their flexibility, DNNs tend to learn not just relations between variables, but also statistical "noise" that is present in the training data. This process, known as overfitting, hinders the generalization of the DNN to new data and is the biggest barrier to training complex models on small samples. Overcoming these problems requires ever larger amounts of training data. This requirement is problematic when training data are expensive or difficult to obtain, as is often the case in clinical psychology and psychiatry. Collecting training data from specialized clinical populations, for instance, often

involves lengthy navigation of institutional review boards and other organizational processes. It can also be expensive, as participants are typically compensated for their time. Furthermore, one assumption of ML and DL is that training data and unseen test data are independent and identically distributed (Pan & Yang, 2010; Tan et al., 2018). This effectively restricts learning to the domain from which the training data originated.

A technique known as transfer learning is one possible solution to the problem of expensive and inaccessible training data (Pan & Yang, 2010; Tan et al., 2018). Transfer learning is the process of translating the learning achieved in a source domain where data are plentiful to a related target domain where data are scarce and difficult to obtain. For example, compared to clinical samples, convenience samples of college undergraduates are easy and inexpensive to access, as college students typically participate in research as part of course requirements. Through transfer learning, an easily obtained convenience sample (a source domain) can partially satisfy the requirement of training data for implementing ML and DL in a clinical sample (a target domain).

The logic of transfer learning states that the early layers of a neural network form basic generalizable representations of the input data during pretraining. Layers deeper in the network, on the other hand, represent highly abstract representations of the input data that are specific to the source domain. Transfer learning is widely used in object recognition research where massively deep networks are trained on large data sets of ordinary images (e.g., house, cat, car, etc.), then applied to specialized image recognition tasks such as identifying a plant's species from images of its leaves and classifying images of skin lesions as cancerous or benign (Esteva et al., 2017; Kaya et al., 2019). As discussed previously, in neural networks that perform object recognition on images, early layers represent basic visual information such as lines and edges.

Layers deeper in the network form more specific and abstract features such as shapes, patterns, and components of larger objects. Transfer learning capitalizes on this hierarchy of feature representation (Kaya et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2018). When the source domain and target domain are related, it is likely that the low-level features learned in a neural network's early layers will be applicable to both. For example, although images of cats (a source domain) are very different from images of skin cells (a target domain), many basic visual features are universal (e.g., lines, patterns, etc.). Rather than training a new neural network in the target domain, the applicable components of a neural network trained in the source domain can be repurposed.

Deep transfer learning is achieved through pretraining a DNN in the source domain (Kaya et al., 2019; Tan et al., 2018). A DNN is constructed, and its parameters updated according to the process described previously until the loss function is minimized. After pretraining, the learning that has taken place in the source domain is encoded in the values of the network's parameters. Following pretraining, the old output layer of the network is replaced with a new untrained output layer and the network is exposed to training data from the target domain. At this point, the initial layers of the network can either be frozen or fine-tuned. If the initial layers are frozen, only the parameters within the new output layer are updated during training in the target domain. If the initial layers are fine-tuned, then their parameters are further updated along with the parameters of the new output layer during training in the target domain. Fine-tuning in the target domain is possible even with small samples because the optimal values of the parameters have been approximated through pretraining in the source domain rather than randomly initialized. This serves to truncate the parameter space the optimization algorithm must search to minimize the loss function. In other words, the learning that was performed in the

source domain is transferred to the target domain via the information that is gained about the new starting values of the model's parameters.

#### **Present Study**

Health risk behaviors, including substance misuse and NSSI, are a significant public health problem (Miech et al., 2018; Muehlenkamp et al., 2012). Selective prevention programs for these behaviors are promising but are limited by current knowledge of risk factors. ML is an atheoretical approach that can handle complex interrelations between large numbers of explanatory variables, transcending the traditional approach of targeting prevention based on a handful of risk factors. DL is a particularly powerful form of ML, but it is seldom deployed in psychological research because large amounts of data are required to prevent overfitting (Dwyer et al., 2018; Yarkoni & Westfall, 2017). However, researchers commonly have access to large samples of college undergraduates, and deep transfer learning may facilitate training DNNs in a small clinical sample by leveraging information learned in a large convenience sample.

This study sought to demonstrate proof of these concepts. I recruited a sample of adolescent psychiatric inpatients and trained fully connected feedforward DNNs on cross sectional self-report demographic, personality, and behavioral assessments to model the likelihood that an individual had engaged in risky substance use or NSSI. It was hypothesized that DNNs configured to classify psychiatric inpatients by the status of those outcomes would exhibit improved performance when they were first pre-trained in a sample of college undergraduates. To evaluate model performance, classification accuracy was examined by constructing bootstrapped confidence intervals for baseline models trained exclusively in the clinical sample, transfer models pretrained in the college sample then transferred to the clinical sample, and a null model based on the most prevalent class represented in the clinical sample.

The biggest barrier to training complex ML models in small data sets is overfitting. Therefore, performance was also evaluated by examining the extent to which the baseline and transfer models overfit their training data throughout the course of their training history.

# CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY

### Participants

### College Sample

The college sample consisted of 10,251 undergraduate students recruited from a large state university in the western United States. Participants earned credit in psychology courses for their participation. Participants responded to electronic surveys in a computer lab on campus, or on their own computers online. This protocol received IRB approval. Descriptive statistics for the demographics of the college sample are presented in Table 1.

# Table 1

## Descriptive Statistics

	College Sample		Clinical Sample		
	N	%	N	%	
N=	10,251		200		
Sex					
Male	5508	53.7	65	32.5	
Female	2957	28.8	133	66.5	
DNR	1786	17.4	2	1.0	
Race					
American Indian	72	0.7	4	2.0	
Asian	355	3.5	3	1.5	
African American	247	2.4	6	3.0	
Hawaiian/ Pacific Islander	25	0.2	3	1.5	
White	7001	68.3	152	76.0	
Multiracial	448	4.4	16	8.0	
DNR	2103	20.5	16	8.0	
Ethnicity					
Hispanic or Latino	1288	12.6	41	20.5	
Not Hispanic or Latino	6859	66.9	142	71.0	
DNR	2104	20.5	17	8.5	
Age					
Mean	19.7		16.12		
SD	2.3		1.11		
<b>Behavioral Outcomes</b>					
Alcohol Misuse	5130	50.0	62	31.0	
DNR	2350	22.9	74	37.0	
Ever engaged in self-injury	1377	13.4	164	82.0	
DNR	6287	61.3	9	4.5	

## Clinical Sample

The clinical sample consisted of 200 adolescent inpatients recruited from a secured psychiatric hospital unit. Participants in the clinical sample were hospitalized at the time of data

collection due to posing a danger to themselves, posing a danger to others, and/or exhibiting grave disability. The most common reasons for hospitalization were NSSI, suicidal ideation, and attempted suicide. Participants responded to electronic surveys on the unit where they were hospitalized. This protocol received IRB approval. Descriptive statistics for the demographics of the clinical sample are presented in Table 1.

#### Measures

Participants from both samples completed similar survey batteries containing measures of demographics, personality, and health risk behavior. All available variables were used to predict the outcomes of interest. A full listing of variables is provided in Appendix A.

#### Personality

Survey batteries contained measures of sensation seeking, impulsivity, meaning, and emotion dysregulation.

**Sensation Seeking.** Sensation seeking, as conceptualized by Conner (2021), is a personality construct comprised of two facets: experience seeking and risk seeking. Experience seeking describes an individual's desire for novel or intense experiences, whereas risk seeking refers to an individual's willingness to take risks to attain novel and exciting experiences. Sensation seeking was operationalized via the Sensation Seeking Personality Type Questionnaire (SSPT; Conner, 2021). The SSPT contains an experience seeking subscale (e.g., "I think variety is what makes life interesting") and a risk seeking subscale (e.g., "I enjoy participating in unsafe activities"). Responses were given on a five-point Likert-type response scale. Because DL models are designed to maximize the information provided by all variables, subscale scores were not created. Instead, all items were entered individually.

**Impulsivity.** Impulsivity is described by Whiteside and Lynam (2001) as a

multidimensional personality construct that contains five facets: negative urgency, lack of premeditation, lack of perseverance, sensation seeking, and positive urgency. These facets were operationalized by the short version of the UPPS-P Impulsive Behavior Scale (SUPPS-P; Cyders et al., 2014). The negative urgency subscale of the SUPPS-P assesses an individual's tendency to engage in rash behavior in the presence of negative emotions. The lack of premeditation subscale contains items that assess an individual's tendency to act before reflecting upon the consequences of their actions. The lack of perseverance subscale captures an individual's tendency to easily give up a task after starting it. The positive urgency subscale contains items that measure an individual's tendency to act rashly in the presence of positive emotions. Because sensation seeking was measured by the SSPT, the sensation seeing subscale of the SUPPS-P was omitted. All responses were given on a four-point Likert-type response scale. Subscale scores were not created and all items were entered individually.

**Emotion Dysregulation.** Emotion dysregulation refers to an individual's inability to modulate the content or experience of their emotions in service of long-term goals (Gross, 1999). Emotion dysregulation was operationalized via the Difficulties with Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS), which contains five subscales (Gratz & Roemer, 2004). The nonacceptance subscale assesses an individual's nonacceptance of emotional responses. The goals subscale assesses an individual's difficulty engaging in goal-directed behavior in the presence of emotions. The impulse subscale assesses an individual's impulse control difficulties in the presence of strong emotions. The awareness subscale assesses an individual's lack of emotional awareness. The strategies subscale assesses the extent to which an individual's access to emotion regulation

strategies is limited. All responses were given on a five-point Likert-type response scale. Subscale scores were not created and all items were entered individually.

**Meaning.** Meaning in life reflects individuals' perceptions that their life is significant and has a clear purpose (Steger, 2016). The present study utilized the Meaning in Life Questionnaire (MLQ; Steger et al. 2006), which formulates meaning in life as presence of meaning and search for meaning. The presence subscale contains items that measure the extent to which participants perceive purpose and significance in their lives. The search subscale captures the extent to which participants are engaged in seeking out greater purpose and significance. All responses were given on a seven-point Likert-type response scale. Subscale scores were not created and all items were entered individually.

#### Health Risk Behavior

Survey batteries contained measures of nonsuicidal self-injury and a large inventory of other risk-taking behaviors. In psychological research, these measures are typically treated as dependent variables or outcomes. In an ML framework, however, these can be viewed as additional features of the dataspace that may contribute to a model's predictions. For instance, an individual's health risk sexual behavior may provide some information that improves a model's ability to predict the individual's alcohol misuse.

**Nonsuicidal Self-Injury.** Nonsuicidal self-injury (NSSI) is defined as intentionally harming oneself through actions such as cutting, scratching, and burning (Klonsky, 2007). NSSI was operationalized by items that assess the frequency and age at onset of NSSI.

**Risk-Taking Behavior.** A broad assessment was conducted via the Risky Behavior Inventory (RBI; Conner & Henson, 2011). The RBI is a large behavioral inventory that asks detailed questions about participants' alcohol use, other substance use, sexual behavior, and

criminal behavior. The outcomes of interest in the present study were assessed by single RBI items. Alcohol misuse was operationalized as binge drinking: consuming four or more drinks in a single episode for females and five or more drinks in a single episode for males. Alcohol misuse was assessed by the item, *In the past 30 days, how many times have you consumed five or more drinks (if you are male) or four or more drinks (if you are female) on one drinking occasion?*. Responses of zero were coded as negative endorsement and responses greater than zero were coded as positive endorsement. An individual's status regarding ever engaging in self-injurious behavior was assessed by the item, *Have you ever hurt yourself on purpose?*. Descriptive statistics for these outcomes are presented in Table 1.

#### **Analysis Plan**

#### Sample Size

There are no published guidelines of sample size requirements for DL, and it is not possible to conduct a power analysis, as in inferential statistics. The amount of data required to train DNNs must be determined empirically and is a function of the number of parameters to be estimated and the complexity of the relations between model inputs and outputs. To keep the number of parameters low, parsimony was prioritized during the model selection process. Models with fewer hidden layers and fewer units per hidden layer were considered first, then complexity was added incrementally.

#### Data Visualization

A series of data visualizations were created to explore the multivariate distributions and linear relations with the two outcomes within each sample.

**Preprocessing.** To prepare data for preprocessing, variables that did not appear in both data sets were dropped, as were character ("string") variables. Furthermore, some variables were

only assessed in one wave of data collection for the clinical sample; these were also omitted. The lower limit of possible values for all variables was zero. Therefore, any negative values were deleted. Categorical variables that were not already binary were encoded as dummy variables. Some items in the survey battery asked about the frequency of a given behavior (e.g., *How many times in the past 6 months have you used marijuana?*). These open-ended frequency questions were vulnerable to extreme responses (e.g.,  $1 \times 10^{47}$ ), resulting in outliers in the data set. Therefore, all such variables were winsorized at their 95th percentile. A list of all variables with potential outliers, along with their 95th percentiles, is provided in Appendix B.

Many items in the survey batteries were members of question series, consisting of a "parent" item (e.g., *Have you ever used marijuana?*) and several "children" items (e.g., *How many times in the past 6 months have you used marijuana?*). If participants responded "No" to the parent question, they could skip the children questions, resulting in missing data. These "structural zeros" were assigned a value of zero. However, some children questions assessed age at onset of a particular behavior (e.g., *How old were you the first time you used marijuana?*). In these special cases, a value of 87 was assigned (1.5 times the age of the oldest participant across both samples). If a participant reported an age at onset that was greater than their chronological age, the response was deleted. All remaining missing data were singly imputed by random forests with predictive mean matching using the missRanger package (Mayer, 2019).

**t-SNE.** t-Distributed Stochastic Neighbor Embedding (t-SNE) is an ML data visualization technique that projects data from a multivariate hyperspace into two or three dimensions for viewing (van der Maaten & Hinton, 2008). t-SNE produces visualizations that preserve spatial relations between data points in the high-dimensional space. If the high-dimensional Euclidean distance between two data points is large, then the resulting pairwise
distance between the points in the low-dimensional space will also be large (van der Maaten & Hinton, 2008). If the high-dimensional Euclidean distance between two data points is small, then the resulting pairwise distance between the points in the low-dimensional space will also be small. t-SNE plots illustrate potential clusters within the data, and the distance between clusters (both within and across samples) convey their relative similarity to each other. Individuals within the college and clinical samples should cluster together and, within those clusters, individuals should be grouped together by the status of their behavioral outcomes. Divergence from this expected pattern may suggest the presence of unique subpopulations within the respective samples.

Five combined data sets were created for t-SNE plots. To accommodate the large discrepancy in sample sizes, five random subsamples of 200 cases from the college data were joined with the clinical data to form five unique data sets. Within each of these, variables with zero variance were identified and removed. Next, all variables within the combined data sets were converted to Z-scores. Because standardization puts variables on the same scale, this was done after combining the data, rather than before. As a result, the rescaled variables still reflected the relative similarity/dissimilarity between the two populations. Each combined data set was then used to produce a series of tSNE plots with 10,000 maximum iterations and perplexity value equal to 50 using the Rtsne package (Krijthe, 2015). tSNE plots, color coded by sample and outcome are presented in Figures 3 and 4.

**Regression Coefficient Weights.** Line plots of the bivariate logistic regression weights between individual predictors and the outcomes of interest within both samples were created for binge drinking (see Figure 5) and NSSI (see Figure 6). Variables with variance equal to zero were identified for each sample. The union of these two sets of variables was dropped from both

data sets. Prior to analysis, all predictor variables were standardized (converted to Z scores). Predictors that were inappropriate or too powerful for a given outcome were dropped from the data set. For the binge drinking outcome, all predictors that referred to alcohol were removed. For the NSSI outcome, all predictors that referred to self-harm were removed. The similarity of the bivariate regression weights across the two samples is an indicator of how well learned patterns will transfer across samples. Furthermore, the magnitude of the largest weights may be diagnostic of potential problems in the data (e.g., large outlier values).

#### **Deep Learning Models**

To test the study hypothesis, two competing DNNs for each outcome of interest were developed. One was trained exclusively in the clinical sample, while the other was pretrained in the college sample and transferred to the clinical sample. To determine if the hypothesis was supported, I examined the classification accuracy of each model compared to a null model using a 50% decision threshold, as well as the extent to which each model overfit its training data throughout the course of its training history.

All DNNs were implemented as fully connected feedforward networks using the Keras package in R (Allaire & Chollet, 2020) with the "Adam" stochastic optimization algorithm (Kingma & Ba, 2014) and the hyperbolic tangent activation function in the hidden layers. The output layer consisted of a single unit with sigmoid (logistic) activation. Because the outcomes to be predicted were categorical, binary cross-entropy was used for the loss function (Kuhn & Johnson, 2013). The model development and selection process is described in detail below. Briefly, the best network architecture and hyperparameter values were found for each outcome in the college data. The weights were transferred to networks which were then fine-tuned in the

clinical data. The performance of the fine-tuned networks was then compared to the performance of networks trained from scratch in the clinical data, as detailed below.

**Preprocessing.** First, the outcome variables were encoded as described in the Measures subsection, above. All predictor variables that referred to alcohol use or self-injury, respectively, were dropped from the data set. It was determined *a priori* that these predictors were too powerful and that their relations to the outcomes were too facile for the purposes of this study. Next, cases with missing values on the outcome variables were deleted listwise. It should be noted that the binge drinking outcome is conditional on the parent question, *Have you ever drank alcohol?*. The data were structured such that participants who responded negatively to the parent question had missing data for the child question, *In the past 30 days, how many times have you consumed five or more drinks (if you are male) or four or more drinks (if you are female) on one drinking occasion?*. As a result, the analyses involving binge drinking were only conducted on participants who had consumed alcohol at least once before.

Predictor variables were preprocessed in a separate pipeline. First, variables that represented potential outliers were winsorized at their 95th percentile (see Appendix B). Structural zeros were imputed to zero, as with the data visualization preprocessing. Then, predictor values were "standardized." However, due to the presence of extreme outliers, the typical approach of centering at the mean and scaling by standard deviation was not uniformly appropriate. Instead, robust statistics (median and inter-quartile range) were used to standardize any predictor variables that had the potential to contain outliers. This approach is modeled on a utility available in the popular Python ML module Scikit-learn (Pedregosa et al., 2011). Predictor variables with zero or near-zero variance were identified using the Caret package (Kuhn, 2008) and were imputed to their median value. This assignment of a constant value was preferred over

deletion to preserve the number of predictor variables across various training iterations. Finally, missing values were imputed using single classification and regression tress with the mlr package for R (Bischl et al., 2016). The preprocessing pipeline for the predictor variables frequently occurred within a cross-validation training loop where data were split into training and validation sets. Care was taken to prevent data leakage in this situation. The parameters for each preprocessing step were estimated from the training sets, then applied to the validation sets.

**College Sample.** Given its plentiful nature, the bulk of model tuning and selection was performed using the college data. All models were evaluated using five-fold cross-validation, with folds stratified by prevalence of the outcome variable. Regularization of these neural networks was performed using dropout on every hidden layer. Dropout is a regularization technique that randomly removes nodes from a network during training according to a predefined probability, the dropout rate (Srivastava et al., 2014). In effect, this simulates an ensemble of many different networks and helps mitigate overfitting. The hyperparameters and architectural specifications that were tuned were the dropout rate [0, 0.2, 0.5, 0.7]; number of hidden layers [1, 5, 10], number of units per hidden layer [1 - 32], and number of training epochs [1 – 100]. A 4 x 3 x 32 grid search was performed and the average binary cross-entropy and classification accuracy were plotted by epoch for each network configuration (see Figure 7 for example). The network with the highest classification accuracy for each outcome was selected and retrained on the full college data for the number of epochs that produced the maximum average classification accuracy during cross-validation. The weight matrices were saved for transfer to the clinical domain.

**Clinical Sample.** A baseline model for each outcome was trained from scratch for 200 epochs on the clinical data within a five-fold cross-validation loop using the best

hyperparameters and network architecture from the college data. Average binary cross-entropy and classification accuracy were plotted by epoch for each network configuration (see Figure 11 for example).

A transfer model was initialized using the weights saved during training on the full college data. The weight matrix of the output layer of this network was replaced with zeros and the remaining hidden layers were frozen. The new output layer was then trained for 100 epochs. Retraining the output layer first in this manner facilitates fine-tuning by preventing very large errors from being propagated backwards through the neural network (Chollet & Allaire, 2018). Next, five-fold cross-validation was used to evaluate the optimal number of hidden layers to fine-tune. Within each iteration of the cross-validation loop, I transferred the pretrained weights, replaced and trained the output layer, then systematically varied the number of hidden layers in the network that were fine-tuned. I examined the maximum classification accuracy and minimum binary cross-entropy for each iteration to select the appropriate number of hidden layers to fine-tune (see Table 2 for example). Finally, average binary cross-entropy and classification accuracy were plotted by epoch for the best transfer model (see Figure 13 for example).

To compare the performance of the baseline and transfer models against each other, and against a null model, 95% confidence intervals were constructed from 850 bootstrap samples of the clinical data. Within each bootstrap sample, the data were split into training and test sets and preprocessed. A null model was implemented that uniformly predicted cases in the test set to be members of the majority class in the training set. The baseline model was trained using the number of epochs that produced the best results during cross validation. The transfer model was trained using the optimal number of epochs and number of fine-tuned hidden layers. Classification accuracy on the test set of the bootstrap samples was calculated for all three

models and used to construct sampling distributions, from which the 95% confidence intervals were derived. Additionally, the training history of each model was examined for indications of overfitting. Overfitting is evident when continual improvement in accuracy or loss on the training data coincides with deterioration in the accuracy or loss on the validation data.

Finally, the information learned by the neural networks was explored using variable importance plots, individual conditional expectation (ICE) plots, and partial dependence plots. These are model-agnostic methods for interpreting ML models, including nonlinear algorithms such as neural networks (Greenwell et al., 2018). The rank order and relative magnitude of variable importance was calculated with the permutation method averaged across 10 Monte Carlo simulations using the vip package in R (Greenwell & Boehmke, 2020). Interpretation of the resulting bar plot is intuitive: larger bars represent more influential predictors. Partial dependence and ICE plots were then constructed to explore the top four predictors for each model. Individual conditional expectation plots (grayscale lines) show the conditional effect of a single variable on the predicted probability of positive class membership for all individuals in the data set. Partial dependence plots (red lines) show the average effect of a single variable across all individuals.

### CHAPTER 4

### RESULTS

#### **Data Visualization**

### t-SNE

t-SNE plots for 5 combined data sets, color coded by sample and binge drinking status, are presented in Figure 3 (maximum iterations = 10,000, perplexity = 50).



Figure 3. t-SNE Plots (Binge Drinking).

t-SNE plots for 5 combined data subsets, color coded by sample and NSSI status, are presented in Figure 4 (maximum iterations = 10,000, perplexity = 50).



Figure 4. t-SNE plots (NSSI).

# Regression Weights

Line plots of standardized bivariate logistic regression weights between all predictors and binge drinking are presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Standardized regression weights by sample (Binge Drinking).

Line plots of standardized bivariate logistic regression weights between all predictors and NSSI are presented in Figure 6.



Figure 6. Standardized regression weights by sample (NSSI).

### **Deep Neural Networks**

### College Sample

For binge drinking, cross-validation revealed that, on average, a DNN with five hidden layers, 26 units per hidden layer, and a dropout rate of 0.7 classified participants in the college sample most accurately. Figure 7 depicts the best cross-validated classification accuracy for fivelayer neural networks with dropout rate of 0.7 and units per hidden layer ranging from 1 to 32.



**Figure 7.** Cross-validated classification accuracy (Binge Drinking - College Sample). *Note.* 5 hidden layers, 0.7 dropout rate, 1-32 units per hidden layer.

Figure 8 illustrates the training history of the best network. The maximum cross-validated classification accuracy (69.5%) was achieved at Epoch 92. After the network was selected, it was trained on the full college data for 92 epochs and the weight matrices were saved for transfer to the clinical domain.



**Figure 8.** Training history by epoch (Binge Drinking – College Sample). *Note.* 5 hidden layers, 0.7 dropout rate, 26 units per hidden layer.

For NSSI, cross-validation revealed that, on average, a DNN with 10 hidden layers, five units per hidden layer, and a dropout rate of 0.2, classified participants in the college sample most accurately. Figure 9 illustrates the best cross-validated classification accuracy for 10-layer neural networks with dropout rate of 0.2 and units per hidden layer ranging from 1 to 32.



**Figure 9.** Cross-validated classification accuracy (NSSI – College Sample). *Note.* 10 hidden layers, 0.2 dropout rate, 1-32 units per hidden layer.

Figure 10 shows the training history of the best network. The maximum cross-validated classification accuracy (68.2%) was achieved at Epoch 18. After the network was selected, it was trained on the full college data for 18 epochs and the weight matrices were saved for transfer to the clinical domain.



Figure 10. Training history by epoch (NSSI – College Sample).

Note. 10 hidden layers, 0.2 dropout rate, 5 units per hidden layer

## Clinical Sample

### **Binge Drinking.**

*Baseline Model.* A neural network with five hidden layers, 26 units per hidden layer, and dropout rate of 0.7, was trained for 200 epochs on the clinical data resulting in a maximum cross-validated classification accuracy of 53.1% and a minimum binary cross-entropy of 0.705. The accuracy and loss training history are presented in Figure 11.



Figure 11. Cross-validated classification accuracy and binary cross-entropy (Binge Drinking – Baseline Model).

Note. 5 hidden layers, 0.7 dropout rate, 26 units per hidden layer.

The 95% bootstrapped confidence interval for classification accuracy was [.375, 0.667]. This was not a significant improvement over the null model 95% CI [.500, .583]. A histogram of bootstrapped classification accuracy for the baseline model is shown in Figure 12.



**Figure 12.** Histogram of bootstrapped classification accuracy (Binge Drinking – Baseline Model).

Note. 5 hidden layers, 0.7 dropout rate, 26 units per hidden layer.

*Transfer model.* A neural network with five hidden layers, 26 units per hidden layer, and dropout rate of 0.7, was initialized using the saved weight matrices from the college sample then fine-tuned on the clinical data. Table 2 displays the maximum classification accuracy and minimum binary cross-entropy obtained by fine-tuning the network from progressively shallower layers. The best result was obtained by fine-tuning the network from the first hidden layer, yielding a maximum cross-validated classification accuracy of 52.6% and a minimum binary cross-entropy of 0.752. The accuracy and loss training history for the best model are presented in Figure 13.

#### Table 2

Fine-	Tuning	Cross-	Validation	<i>Results</i> (	(Binge l	Drinking)
	()				\ ()	()/

<b>Network Fine-Tuned From</b>	Accuracy	Loss
Hidden Layer 1	0.526	0.752
Hidden Layer 2	0.453	0.751
Hidden Layer 3	0.437	0.755
Hidden Layer 4	0.429	0.757
Hidden Layer 5	0.429	0.758



**Figure 13.** Cross-validated classification accuracy and binary cross-entropy (Binge Drinking – Transfer Model).

Note. 5 hidden layers, 0.7 dropout rate, 26 units per hidden layer.

The 95% bootstrapped confidence interval for classification accuracy was [0.375, 0.708]. This was not a significant improvement over the null model (95% CI [0.500, 0.583]). A histogram of bootstrapped classification accuracy for the transfer model is shown in Figure 14.



**Figure 14.** Histogram of bootstrapped classification accuracy (Binge Drinking – Transfer Model).

Note. 5 hidden layers, 0.7 dropout rate, 26 units per hidden layer.

A bar plot of variable importance for the transfer model, alongside partial dependence and individual contribution expectation plots for the four most influential predictors, is presented in Figure 15. The most influential predictors were: *How many times did you go to school while you were drunk or high in the last 30 days?* (R.Sub21a); *How many times in your life have you [used a combination of substances to get a better high]?* (R.Sub16c); *How many times in the last*  12 months have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse? (R.Sex41); How many times in the last 30 days have you had vaginal intercourse? (R.Sex4b).



Figure 15. Variable importance, partial dependence, and ICE plots (Binge Drinking – Transfer Model).

Note. 5 hidden layers, 0.7 dropout rate, 26 units per hidden layer.

## NSSI.

*Baseline Model.* A neural network with 10 hidden layers, 5 units per hidden layer, and dropout rate of 0.2, was trained for 200 epochs on the clinical data, resulting in a maximum cross-validated classification accuracy of 86.4% and a minimum binary cross-entropy of 0.471. The accuracy and loss training history are presented in Figure 16.



Figure 16. Cross-validated classification accuracy and binary cross-entropy (NSSI – Baseline Model).

Note. 10 hidden layers, 0.2 dropout rate, 5 units per hidden layer.

The 95% bootstrapped confidence interval for classification accuracy was [0.243, 0.892]. This was not a significant improvement over the null model (95% CI [0.812, 0.914]). A histogram of bootstrapped classification accuracy for the baseline model is shown in Figure 17.



**Figure 17.** Histogram of bootstrapped classification accuracy (NSSI – Baseline Model). *Note.* 10 hidden layers, 0.2 dropout rate, 5 units per hidden layer.

*Transfer model.* A neural network with 10 hidden layers, 5 units per hidden layer, and dropout rate of 0.2 was initialized using the saved weight matrices from the college data, then fine-tuned on the clinical data. Table 3 displays the maximum classification accuracy and minimum binary cross-entropy obtained by fine-tuning the network from progressively shallower layers. The best result was obtained by fine-tuning the network from the third hidden layer, yielding a maximum cross-validated classification accuracy of 85.9% and a minimum binary

cross-entropy of 0.413. The accuracy and loss training history for the best model are presented in Figure 18.

# Table 3

Fine-Tuning Cross-Validation Results (NSSI)

Network Fine-Tuned From	Accuracy	Loss
Hidden Layer 1	0.859	0.507
Hidden Layer 2	0.859	0.413
Hidden Layer 3	0.859	0.413
Hidden Layer 4	0.859	0.413
Hidden Layer 5	0.859	0.414
Hidden Layer 6	0.859	0.414
Hidden Layer 7	0.859	0.414
Hidden Layer 8	0.859	0.415
Hidden Layer 9	0.859	0.417
Hidden Layer 10	0.859	0.416



- Figure 18. Cross-validated classification accuracy and binary cross-entropy (NSSI Transfer Model).
- Note. 10 hidden layers, 0.2 dropout rate, 5 units per hidden layer.

The 95% bootstrapped confidence interval for classification accuracy was [0.375, 0.708]. This was not a significant improvement over the null model (95% CI [0.812, 0.914]). A histogram of bootstrapped classification accuracy for the transfer model is shown in Figure 19.



**Figure 19.** Histogram of bootstrapped classification accuracy (NSSI – Transfer Model). *Note.* 10 hidden layers, 0.2 dropout rate, 5 units per hidden layer.

A bar plot of variable importance for the transfer model, alongside partial dependence and individual contribution expectation plots for the four most influential predictors, is presented in Figure 20. The most influential predictors were: *How many times in your life have you used alcohol or drugs in the morning/when you first wake up?* (R.Sub29c); *How many times in your life did you go to school while you were drunk or high?* (R.Sub21c); *How many times in the last 12 months have you had vaginal intercourse?* (R.Sex4d); *How many times have you smoked cigarettes in the last 6 months?* (R.Sub1e).



**Figure 20.** Variable importance, partial dependence, and ICE plots (NSSI – Transfer Model). *Note.* 10 hidden layers, 0.2 dropout rate, 5 units per hidden layer.

#### CHAPTER 5

#### DISCUSSION

The goal of this study was to demonstrate proof of concept that large convenience samples of college undergraduates could be leveraged to facilitate training DNNs in small clinical samples using deep transfer learning. I hypothesized that DNNs pretrained in a college sample (the "transfer" models) would outperform DNNs trained exclusively in a clinical sample (the "baseline" models) in classifying adolescent psychiatric inpatients according to their binge drinking and NSSI status. The results reported herein support this prediction. Classification accuracy achieved by the baseline and transfer models for both alcohol misuse and NSSI were essentially equivalent and neither of these were significantly better than a null model that classified individuals according to the base rate of the outcome in the training data. However, the transfer models outperformed the baseline models with respect to overfitting.

This advantage is best illustrated by comparing the training history shown in Figure 11 to the history shown in Figure 13 (for alcohol misuse) and in Figure 16 to that shown in Figure 18 (for NSSI). In both cases, it is evident that the baseline models maintain maximum classification accuracy for a small number of training epochs. Then, classification accuracy decreases sharply as the model begins to overfit the training data. If one were to use these models in production, it would be necessary to first train them for a specified number of epochs before applying them to unseen data. In this sense, number of training epochs is a hyperparameter that needs to be tuned. With the baseline models there is a very narrow range of values that will produce optimal results. Additionally, the optimal value tends to vary with each training iteration due to random initialization of the model weights. On the other hand, once the transfer models reach maximum

classification accuracy, they maintain that performance indefinitely. It is very difficult to overtrain these models and it would be simple to select any number of training epochs that yield optimal results. The trajectory of the loss function for the NSSI transfer model (Figure 14) provides further support for an improvement in performance over the baseline model. The validation loss tracks closely to the training loss throughout the training history. In contrast, the baseline model's loss function (Figure 16) reaches a minimum, then increases as overfitting occurs. Overall, these results indicate that pretraining DNNs in the college sample acted as a buffer against overfitting. This is not a trivial quality. The mandate to avoid overfitting is a cardinal rule of ML, and proneness to overfitting is the primary barrier to using such models in psychological research (Dwyer et al., 2018; Yarkoni & Westfall, 2017).

To my knowledge, this is the first study that has attempted to use deep transfer learning to commute information garnered from a convenience sample of college undergraduates to a clinical psychiatric sample in order to predict health risk outcomes. Previous studies have implemented ML models to predict related outcomes, such as suicide risk, with relative success (e.g., Desjardins et al., 2016; Walsh et al., 2017). However, these studies were concerned with maximizing predictive utility. Consequently, they chose to include variables known to be highly predictive of the outcome (e.g., suicidal ideation, psychiatric diagnoses, history of suicide attempts, etc.). In contrast, the present study was intended as proof of concept that data from college undergraduates can be used to augment the training of DNNs in small clinical samples. This was a secondary data analysis performed on data that were collected as part of a study investigating personality and health risk behavior. These data were not originally intended for predictive modelling and did not include the kinds of variables mentioned above. In fact, the models were intentionally constrained by excluding overpowered predictors. Thus, the relatively

poor classification accuracy of the DNNs reported herein is not surprising, and the buffer against overfitting provided by pretraining these networks in the college data remains promising.

One unexpected finding is the apparent heterogeneity in the clinical sample with respect to NSSI. The t-SNE plot for alcohol misuse (see Figure 3) shows two distinct populations (college and clinical) with two classes represented within each cluster (binge drinking and no binge drinking). On the other hand, the t-SNE plot for NSSI (see Figure 4) suggests that the two populations are not as distinct. Individuals in the clinical sample with a history of NSSI may belong to their own unique population, whereas individuals in the clinical sample with no history of NSSI appear to be members of the same population as individuals in the college sample. Within this cluster, they appear to be more closely related to individuals in the college sample with no NSSI history. The bimodal distributions of bootstrapped classification accuracy in Figures 17 and 19 also convey significant heterogeneity within the clinical sample. It is possible that the models are performing poorly in bootstrap samples where the minority class is overrepresented because those individuals belong to a distinct population. It may be germane for future research to investigate these clusters further, by performing latent profile analysis, for instance.

The current study possesses many noteworthy strengths. One of these strengths is the size and provenance of the data sets that were collected. Psychological research often relies on samples of convenience, typically undergraduate students who participate in research for course credit. Samples from clinical populations are comparatively rare, and samples from pediatric clinical populations even more so. Additionally, the number of participants in the college sample is relatively large in the context of psychological research. The primary strength of the current study is the use of methods that bridge these two samples. It is critically important for

psychologists to study members of the populations they intend to benefit (in this case, adolescent psychiatric inpatients), but such data are difficult to access. The techniques employed in this study expand the repertoire of analyses that can be performed on these scarce, but impactful, data sets. The execution of deep transfer learning using the Keras package in R (Allaire & Chollet, 2020) is also notable. Before the recent release of the Keras package, feed forward neural networks were available in R, or even SPSS. But advanced operations, such as transfer learning and complex network architectures, required the use of the Python programming language. This approach allows R users to execute DL studies in a programming language they are already familiar with.

Findings of the current study should be interpreted with certain limitations in mind. Although a diverse range of psychopathology was included, both the college and clinical samples were majority White and did not necessarily represent diverse racial and ethnic populations. The ability to predict the outcomes of interest was limited by cross-sectional self-report data. This kind of tabular data is not particularly well-suited for DL, which excels at learning from unstructured data such as images or text. However, optimizing DL for tabular data is an active area of research (Arik & Pfister, 2019).

Another limitation is the preponderance of missing values in these data sets. Data were collected over the course of several years, and the survey battery that was administered changed over time. This, in addition to the fact that participants could skip any questions they wished, resulted in high rates of missingness. For example, in the college sample, 61.3% of participants did not respond to the question about NSSI. How to best handle missing data is an open question in the ML field. The approach used here, single imputation with simple ML models predicting missing values, is typical but not ideal. Khan and colleagues (2018) proposed an ensemble

method that uses multiple imputation, the gold standard for handling missing data in inferential statistics. Although this technique was beyond the scope of the current study, it represents a potentially more robust way to deal with missing data.

These data sets were also characterized by frequent outlier values. Many of the variables were self-reported counts of behaviors and contained extremely high values. Neural networks are most efficient when all inputs have an average that is close to zero and have similar variance (LeCun et al., 2012). Therefore, I made the conservative decision to winsorize potential outliers at their 95th percentile and to scale them using robust statistics (median and inter-quartile range). However, it is clear from the partial dependence and individual conditional expectation plots in Figures 15 and 20 that these preprocessing steps did not produce inputs with the desired distributions. For both outcomes, multiple input variables with extreme values are among the most influential predictors. The models learned to over-rely on these noisy variables, likely at the expense of classification accuracy. Further evidence of the effect of outliers can be seen in the regression weights plots in Figure 6. This plot depicts several "spikes," which represent highly inflated regression weights in the clinical sample caused by extreme values. Additional research is needed to determine how to best handle this kind of self-reported behavioral data in ML models.

A post hoc exploration of predictions made by the DNNs further highlights the impact of these limitations. I retrained the final models on a new randomly selected subset of the clinical data and explored the predictions that they generated on new validation data by examining the five cases for each outcome with the largest prediction errors. For both alcohol misuse and NSSI, these five cases predominantly belonged to the negative class (i.e., no history of binge

drinking/NSSI). On average, they had a greater proportion of missing data and the magnitude of responses to potential outlier questions was smaller.

Nevertheless, the findings reported herein encourage a broad range of future research directions inasmuch as they demonstrate the feasibility of using deep transfer learning on small clinical data sets. In the near term, is will be necessary to demonstrate that deep transfer learning improves not only the stability, but also the accuracy, of predictions. This may be possible by including more relevant training data (both structured and unstructured), effectively imputing missing values, and minimizing the noise caused by outliers. Additionally, further consideration should be given to the performance metric in future studies. I used classification accuracy in this study. However, the utility of classification accuracy is limited because it requires the selection of a decision threshold. The decision threshold can be optimized through cross-validation to produce the greatest proportion of correctly classified cases, but in this instance, I simply used the default threshold of 50%. Other metrics, such as area under the receiver operating characteristic curve, take into account classification accuracy across a range of all possible decision thresholds. Ultimately, if this research is translated to clinical applications, clinical scientists should consider sensitivity and specificity, rather than simple accuracy. This involves an ethical decision based on the invasiveness of a potential intervention. When dealing with selective prevention, there is fairly low risk associated with the intervention and a model with high sensitivity may be preferred. However, given that NSSI can result in involuntary hospitalization in some cases, specificity should be prioritized as well.

One area of potential future research is the application of deep transfer learning to Justin-Time Adaptive Interventions (JITAIs). JITAIs monitor data in real time and are designed to provide intervention at the optimal moment to prevent harmful behavior (Wang & Miller, 2020).

Meta-analyses show that JITAIs that are tailored to individuals by automated algorithms are more efficacious than those driven by human agents, and many leading researchers have called for increased use of ML in the prediction of phenomena such as suicidal thoughts and behaviors (e.g., Ribeiro et al., 2016b, Torous et al., 2018). A particularly ambitious JITAI might involve tailoring based on ecological momentary assessments (EMAs) of relevant psychological constructs (e.g., Czyz et al., 2018), biometric sensor measurements (e.g., Kleiman et al., 2019), and analyzing speech patterns (e.g., Belouali, 2021). Biomedical data and clinical assessments from an individual's electronic health records could be included to inform the decision rule (e.g., Rajkomar et al., 2018), as could community-level data about social determinants of health (e.g., National Research Council, 2007). But such a complex model would require vast amounts of training data and would be prone to overfitting. However, by building on the design of the current study, researchers could run parallel experiments with college undergraduates concurrently with clinically relevant populations. DNNs could be pretrained on the college data and a public repository of electronic health records, then transferred to a small clinical sample. In addition to protecting against overfitting the clinical data, the parallel nature of this design would drastically reduce the time and cost of data collection.

The findings of this study are relevant to clinicians and prevention scientists working on reducing the public health burden of NSSI and binge drinking. Some European biomedical researchers have adopted ML to bolster their selective prevention program for Alzheimer's disease (Langford et al., 2020). Rather than screening individuals based on the traditional risk factors in their area of study, these scientists established a large pool of potential participants in selective prevention trials. By using ML algorithms on this pool, they can efficiently identify individuals who would most benefit from the prevention program. A similar process can be
developed for NSSI or binge drinking. Multimodal data from electronic health records, social media, and large epidemiological studies can be processed by DL models and identify adolescents for whom selective interventions will be most beneficial.

In sum, current findings support the study hypotheses that pretraining DNNs in a college sample will improve their performance in a clinical sample. Although predictions were not significantly more accurate than the null model, they were more stable for the pretrained networks compared to the baseline networks. It appears that pretraining DNNs in the college sample achieved the desired effect of buffering against overfitting when fine-tuning in a small clinical sample. This opens up the possibility for ambitious DL projects to be completed on small, but meaningful, clinical samples. Such models can potentially improve the effectiveness of selective prevention programs by moving beyond reliance on a handful of risk factors and incorporating complex interactions between a large and diverse set of explanatory variables.

#### REFERENCES

- Allaire, J. J., & Chollet, F. (2020). *keras: R Interface to 'Keras'. R package* (Version 2.3.0.0). [Computer software]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=keras
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.).
- Ammerman, B. A., Jacobucci, R., Kleiman, E. M., Uyeji, L. L., & McCloskey, M. S. (2018). The relationship between nonsuicidal self-injury age of onset and severity of selfharm. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 48(1), 31-37.

https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12330

- Anestis, M. D., Khazem, L. R., & Law, K. C. (2015). How many times and how many ways: The impact of number of nonsuicidal self-injury methods on the relationship between nonsuicidal self-injury frequency and suicidal behavior. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior*, 45(2), 164-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sltb.12120</u>
- Angehrn, Z., Karcher, H., de Reydat de Vulpillieres, F., & Nordon, C. (2018). Predictive modelling for secondary prevention of Alzheimer's disease: Ethical concerns and social implications based on targeted, narrative literature review. *Value in Health*, 21(Supp. 1), S209. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2018.04.1415</u>
- Akyea, R. K., Leonardi-Bee, J., Asselbergs, F. W., Patel, R. S., Durrington, P., Wierzbicki, A. S. Ibiwoye, O. H., Kai, J., Qureshi, N., & Weng, S. F. (2020). Predicting major adverse cardiovascular events for secondary prevention: Protocol for a systematic review and meta-analysis of risk prediction models. *BMJ Open*, *10*(7), e034564. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-034564

- Arik, S. O., & Pfister, T. (2019). *Tabnet: Attentive interpretable tabular learning. arXiv preprint arXiv:1908.07442*. <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1908.07442</u>
- Belouali, A., Gupta, S., Sourirajan, V., Yu, J., Allen, N., Alaoui, A., Dutton, M. A., & Reinhard,
  M. J. (2021). Acoustic and language analysis of speech for suicidal ideation among US
  veterans. *BioData Mining*, 14(11), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13040-021-00245-y
- Bischl, B., Lang, M., Kotthoff, L., Schiffner, J., Richter, J., Studerus, E., Casalicchio, G., & Jones, Z. M. (2016). mlr: Machine learning in R. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, *17*(170), 1-5. <u>https://jmlr.org/papers/v17/15-066.html</u>
- Bohn, M. J., Babor, T. F., & Kranzler, H. R. (1995). The alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT): Validation of a screening instrument for use in medical settings. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 56(4), 423-432. <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1995.56.423</u>
- Brown, L. K., Houck, C. D., Grossman, C. I., Lescano, C. M., & Frenkel, J. L. (2008).
  Frequency of adolescent self-cutting as a predictor of HIV risk. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 29(3), 161-165.
  https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e318173a587
- Brown, M. Z., Comtois, K. A., & Linehan, M. M. (2002). Reasons for suicide attempts and nonsuicidal self-injury in women with borderline personality disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *111*(1), 198-202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.111.1.198</u>
- Buser, T. J., Buser, J. K., & Rutt, C. C. (2017). Predictors of unintentionally severe harm during nonsuicidal self-injury. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 95(1), 14-23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcad.12113</u>

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021, April 14). *FastStats Adolescent health*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/fastats/adolescent-health.htm</u>
- Chollet, F., & Allaire, J.J. (2018). Deep learning with R. Manning Publications.
- Claes, L., & Muehlenkamp, J. J. (Eds.). (2016). Non-suicidal self-injury in eating disorders: Advancements in etiology and treatment. Springer.
- Conner, B. (2021). The sensation seeking personality type scale: A latent-trait assessment of sensation seeking [Manuscript submitted for publication]. Department of Psychology, Colorado State University.
- Conner, B. T., & Henson, J. M. (2011, August). Validity and reliability of the sensation seeking personality type scale [Poster presentation]. 119th Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association, Washington D.C. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/e712162011-001</u>
- Conrod, P. J., Castellanos, N., & Mackie, C. (2008). Personality-targeted interventions delay the growth of adolescent drinking and binge drinking. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(2), 181-190. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18211277/</u>
- Costa, P. T., Jr., McCrae, R. R., & Löckenhoff, C. E. (2019). Personality across the life span. Annual Review of Psychology, 70, 423-448. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-103244</u>
- Cheung, Y. K., Hsueh, P.-Y. S., Qian, M., Yoon, S., Meli, L., Diaz, K. M., Schwartz, J. E., Kronish, I. M., & Davidson, K. W. (2017). Are nomothetic or ideographic approaches superior in predicting daily exercise behaviors? Analyzing N-of-1 mHealth data. *Methods* of Information in Medicine, 56(6), 452-460. https://doi.org/10.3414/ME16-02-0051

- Creswell, K. G., Chung, T., Skrzynski, C. J., Bachrach, R. L., Jackson, K. M., Clark, D. B., & Martin, C. S. (2020). Drinking beyond the binge threshold in a clinical sample of adolescents. *Addiction*, 115(8), 1472-1481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14979</u>
- Cyders, M. A., Littlefield, A. K., Coffey, S., & Karyadi, K. A. (2014). Examination of a short English version of the UPPS-P impulsive behavior scale. *Addictive Behaviors*, *39*(9), 1372–1376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2014.02.013</u>
- Czyz, E. K., King, C. A., & Nahum-Shani, I. (2018). Ecological assessment of daily suicidal thoughts and attempts among suicidal teens after psychiatric hospitalization: Lessons about feasibility and acceptability. *Psychiatry Research*, 267, 566-574.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2018.06.031

- Davies, L., & Oliver, C. (2013). The age related prevalence of aggression and self-injury in persons with an intellectual disability: A review. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 34(2), 764-775. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2012.10.004</u>
- DeJong, W. (2003). Definitions of binge drinking. *JAMA*, 289(13), 1635-1636. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.289.13.1635
- Desjardins, I., Cats-Baril, W., Maruti, S., Freeman, K., & Althoff, R. (2016). Suicide risk assessment in hospitals: An expert system-based triage tool. *The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 77(7), 874-882. <u>https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.15m09881</u>
- Donovan, J. E. (2009). Estimated blood alcohol concentrations for child and adolescent drinking and their implications for screening instruments. *Pediatrics*, *123*(6), e975-e981. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-0027
- Doumas, D. M., Miller, R., & Esp, S. (2017). Impulsive sensation seeking, binge drinking, and alcohol-related consequences: Do protective behavioral strategies help high risk

adolescents?. Addictive Behaviors, 64, 6-12.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.08.003

- Dwyer, D. B., Falkai, P., & Koutsouleris, N. (2018). Machine learning approaches for clinical psychology and psychiatry. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 14, 91-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045037</u>
- Eaton, D. K., Kann, L., Kinchen, S., Shanklin, S., Flint, K. H., Hawkins, J., Harris, W. A., Lowry, R., McManus, T., Chyen, D., Whittle, L., Lim, C., Wechsler, H., Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). Youth risk behavior surveillance—United States, 2011. *MMWR: Surveillance Summaries*, 61(4), 1-162.

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22673000/

- Esteva, A., Kuprel, B., Novoa, R. A., Ko, J., Swetter, S. M., Blau, H. M., & Thrun, S. (2017).
   Dermatologist-level classification of skin cancer with deep neural networks. *Nature*, 542(7639), 115-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21056</u>
- Favazza, A. R. (1998). The coming of age of self-mutilation. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 186(5), 259-268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00005053-199805000-00001</u>
- Glenn, C. R., & Klonsky, E. D. (2010). A multimethod analysis of impulsivity in nonsuicidal self-injury. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*, 1(1), 67-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017427</u>
- Glenn, C. R., & Klonsky, E. D. (2011). Prospective prediction of nonsuicidal self-injury: A 1year longitudinal study in young adults. *Behavior Therapy*, 42(4), 751-762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2011.04.005</u>
- Glenn, C. R., Lanzillo, E. C., Esposito, E. C., Santee, A. C., Nock, M. K., & Auerbach, R. P. (2017). Examining the course of suicidal and nonsuicidal self-injurious thoughts and

behaviors in outpatient and inpatient adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 45(5), 971-983. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-016-0214-0</u>

Gottfredson, D. C., & Wilson, D. B. (2003). Characteristics of effective school-based substance abuse prevention. *Prevention Science*, 4(1), 27-38.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1021782710278

- Gratz, K. L., & Roemer, L. (2004). Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: Development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 26(1), 41-54. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JOBA.0000007455.08539.94
- Gross, J. J. (1999). Emotion regulation: Past, present, future. *Cognition & Emotion*, *13*(5), 551– 573. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/026999399379186</u>
- Greenwell, B. M. & Boehmke, B. C. (2020). Variable importance plots—An introduction to the vip package. *The R Journal*, *12*(1), 343-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.32614/RJ-2020-013</u>. <u>https://doi.org/10.32614/RJ-2020-013</u>
- Greenwell, B. M., Boehmke, B. C., & McCarthy, A. J. (2018). A simple and effective modelbased variable importance measure [Computer software]. https://arxiv.org/abs/1805.04755
- Hasking, P., Lewis, S. P., Bloom, E., Brausch, A., Kaess, M., & Robinson, K. (2021). Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on students at elevated risk of self-injury: The importance of virtual and online resources. *School Psychology International*, 42(1), 57-78.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034320974414

- Heath, N. L., Toste, J. R., & MacPhee, S.-D. (2014). Prevention of nonsuicidal self-injury. In M.
   K. Nock (Ed.), *The oxford handbook of suicide and self-injury* (p. 397).
   <a href="https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195388565.013.0022">https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780195388565.013.0022</a>
- Hooley, J. M., & Franklin, J. C. (2018). Why do people hurt themselves? A new conceptual model of nonsuicidal self-injury. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 6(3), 428-451. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702617745641</u>
- Jackman, K., Honig, J., & Bockting, W. (2016). Nonsuicidal self-injury among lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender populations: An integrative review. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25(23-24), 3438-3453. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13236</u>
- James, G., Witten, D., Hastie, T., & Tibshirani, R. (2013). *An introduction to statistical learning With applications in R.* Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-7138-7</u>
- Jenkins, A. L., Conner, B. T., & Alloy, L. B. (2011). The form and function of self-injury scale (FAFSI): Development and psychometric evaluation [Poster presentation]. Annual Meeting of the American Psychological Association, Washington, DC. https://doi.org/10.1037/e709952011-001
- Johnston, L. D., Miech, R. A., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., Schulenberg, J. E., & Patrick, M. E. (2021). Monitoring the future national survey results on drug use, 1975-2020:
  Overview, key findings on adolescent drug Use. *Institute for Social Research*.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.3998/2027.42/162579">https://doi.org/10.3998/2027.42/162579</a>
- Joiner, T. E., Ribeiro, J. D., & Silva, C. (2012). Nonsuicidal self-injury, suicidal behavior, and their co-occurrence as viewed through the lens of the interpersonal theory of suicide. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 21(5), 342-347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721412454873</u>

- Jones, C. M., Paulozzi, L. J., & Mack, K. A. (2014). Alcohol involvement in opioid pain reliever and benzodiazepine drug abuse–related emergency department visits and drug-related deaths—United States, 2010. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 63(40), 881-885. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6340a1.htm
- Jones, S. A., Lueras, J. M., & Nagel, B. J. (2018). Effects of binge drinking on the developing brain: Studies in humans. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, 39(1), 87-96. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6104956/
- Kaya, A., Keceli, A. S., Catal, C., Yalic, H. Y., Temucin, H., & Tekinerdogan, B. (2019).
   Analysis of transfer learning for deep neural network based plant classification models.
   *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 158, 20-29.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2019.01.041
- Kentopp, S. D., Conner, B. T., Fetterling, T. J., Delgadillo, A. A., & Rebecca, R. A. (2021).
  Sensation seeking and nonsuicidal self-injurious behavior among adolescent psychiatric patients. *Clinical Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 26(2), 430-442.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/1359104521994627
- Khan, S. S., Ahmad, A., & Mihailidis, A. (2018). Bootstrapping and multiple imputation ensemble approaches for missing data. *Journal of Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems*, 1. <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1802.00154</u>
- Kiekens, G., Hasking, P., Claes, L., Boyes, M., Mortier, P., Auerbach, R. P., Cuijpers, K., Demyttenaere, K., Green, J. G., Kessler, R. C., Myin-Germeys, I., Nock, M. K., & Bruffaerts, R. (2019). Predicting the incidence of non-suicidal self-injury in college students. *European Psychiatry*, *59*, 44-51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.04.002</u>

- Kingma, D. P., & Ba, J. (2014). Adam: A method for stochastic optimization. *arXiv preprint arXiv:1412.6980*. <u>https://arxiv.org/abs/1412.6980</u>
- Kleiman, E. M., Millner, A. J., Joyce, V. W., Nash, C. C., Buonopane, R. J., & Nock, M. K. (2019). Using wearable physiological monitors with suicidal adolescent inpatients:
  Feasibility and acceptability study. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 7(9), e13725.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.2196/13725">https://doi.org/10.2196/13725</a>
- Klonsky, E. D. (2007). The functions of deliberate self-injury: A review of the evidence. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 27(2), 226-239. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2006.08.002</u>
- Klonsky, E. D., & Moyer, A. (2008). Childhood sexual abuse and non-suicidal self-injury: Metaanalysis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 192(3), 166-170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.106.030650</u>
- Koposov, R., Stickley, A., & Ruchkin, V. (2021). Non-suicidal self-injury among incarcerated adolescents: Prevalence, personality, and psychiatric comorbidity. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.652004</u>
- Krijthe, J. H. (2015). Rtsne: T-distributed stochastic neighbor embedding using a Barnes-Hut implementation. <u>https://github.com/jkrijthe/Rtsne</u>
- Kuhn, M. (2008). Building predictive models in R using the caret package. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 28(5), 1-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v028.i05</u>
- Kuhn, M., & Johnson, K. (2013). *Applied predictive modeling* (Vol. 26). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-6849-3
- Kuntsche, E., Kuntsche, S., Thrul, J., & Gmel, G. (2017). Binge drinking: Health impact, prevalence, correlates and interventions. *Psychology & Health*, 32(8), 976-1017. https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2017.1325889

- Lange, J. E., & Voas, R. B. (2001). Defining binge drinking quantities through resulting blood alcohol concentrations. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 15(4), 310–316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.15.4.310</u>
- Langford, O., Raman, R., Sperling, R. A., Cummings, J., Sun, C.-K., Jimenez-Maggiora, G., Aisen, P. S., & Donohue, M. C. (2020). Predicting amyloid burden to accelerate recruitment of secondary prevention clinical trials. *The Journal of Prevention of Alzheimer's Disease*, 7(4), 213-218. <u>https://doi.org/10.14283/jpad.2020.44</u>
- Lannoy, S., Duka, T., Carbia, C., Billieux, J., Fontesse, S., Dormal, V., Gierski, F., López-Caneda, E., Sullivan, E. V., & Maurage, P. (2021). Emotional processes in binge drinking: A systematic review and perspective. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2021.101971
- LeCun, Y., Bengio, Y., & Hinton, G. (2015). Deep learning. *Nature*, *521*(7553), 436-444. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14539
- LeCun, Y. A., Bottou, L., Orr, G. B., & Müller, K. R. (2012). Efficient backprop. In G. Montavon, G. B. Orr, & K. R. Müller, *Neural networks: Tricks of the trade* (pp. 9-48). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-35289-8\_3</u>
- Liu, R. T., Sheehan, A. E., Walsh, R. F., Sanzari, C. M., Cheek, S. M., & Hernandez, E. M. (2019). Prevalence and correlates of non-suicidal self-injury among lesbian, gay, bisexual, and trnansgender individuals: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 74, 101783. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101783</u>
- Maddox, B. B., Trubanova, A., & White, S. W. (2017). Untended wounds: Non-suicidal selfinjury in adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism*, 21(4), 412-422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316644731</u>

- Mayer, M. (2019). *missRanger: Fast imputation of missing values* (R package Version 2.1.0) [Computer software]. <u>https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=missRanger</u>
- McKenzie, K. C., & Gross, J. J. (2014). Nonsuicidal self-injury: An emotion regulation perspective. *Psychopathology*, 47(4), 207-219. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000358097</u>
- Mehus, C. J., & Patrick, M. E. (2020). Alcohol use among 10th-graders: Distinguishing between high-intensity drinking and other levels of use. *Journal of Adolescence*, 83, 27-30. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2020.07.004</u>
- Melville, P., & Sindhwani, V. (2010). Recommender systems. *Encyclopedia of Machine Learning*, *1*, 829-838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-30164-8\_705</u>
- Mewton, L., Visontay, R., Chapman, C., Newton, N., Slade, T., Kay-Lambkin, F., & Teesson,
  M. (2018). Universal prevention of alcohol and drug use: An overview of reviews in an
  Australian context. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, *37*(S1), S435-S469.

https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.12694

- Miech, R. A., Johnston, L. D., O'Malley, P. M., Bachman, J. G., Schulenberg, J. E., & Patrick,
  M. E. (2019). *Monitoring the future: National survey results on drug use, 1975-2018: Volume I, Secondary school students*. Institute for Social Research, The University of Michigan.
- Mitchell, T. (1997). Machine learning. McGraw Hill.
- Mork, E., Mehlum, L., Barrett, E. A., Agartz, I., Harkavy-Friedman, J. M., Lorentzen, S., Melle, I., Andreassen, O. A., & Walby, F. A. (2012). Self-harm in patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Archives of Suicide Research*, *16*(2), 111-123.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2012.667328">https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2012.667328</a>

Moseley, R. L., Gregory, N. J., Smith, P., Allison, C., & Baron-Cohen, S. J. M. A. (2019). A 'choice', an 'addiction', a way 'out of the lost': Exploring self-injury in autistic people without intellectual disability. *Molecular Autism*, *10*(1), 1-23.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-019-0267-3

- Muehlenkamp, J. J., Claes, L., Havertape, L., & Plener, P. L. (2012). International prevalence of adolescent non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm. *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 6(1), 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1753-2000-6-10</u>
- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism. (2021). Alcohol facts and statistics. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health. Retrieved on May 30, 2021, from <u>https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/alcohol-health/overview-alcohol-consumption/alcohol-facts-and-statistics</u>
- National Research Council. (2007). Using the American community survey: Benefits and challenges. National Academies Press.
- Nock, M. K. (2009). Why do people hurt themselves?: New insights into the nature and functions of self-injury. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 18(2), 78-83. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01613.x
- Nock, M. K., Joiner, T. E., Jr., Gordon, K. H., Lloyd-Richardson, E., & Prinstein, M. J. (2006). Non-suicidal self-injury among adolescents: Diagnostic correlates and relation to suicide attempts. *Psychiatry Research*, 144(1), 65-72.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2006.05.010

Nock, M. K., & Prinstein, M. J. (2004). A functional approach to the assessment of selfmutilative behavior. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72(5), 885-890. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.5.885

- Nock, M. K., Prinstein, M. J., & Sterba, S. K. (2009). Revealing the form and function of selfinjurious thoughts and behaviors: A real-time ecological assessment study among adolescents and young adults. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *118*(4), 816-827. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016948
- Norman, P., & Conner, M. (2006). The theory of planned behaviour and binge drinking:
  Assessing the moderating role of past behaviour within the theory of planned
  behaviour. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *11*(1), 55-70.
  https://doi.org/10.1348/135910705X43741
- Pan, S. J., & Yang, Q. (2010). A survey on transfer learning. *IEEE Transactions on Knowledge* and Data Engineering, 22(10), 1345-1359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/TKDE.2009.191</u>
- Patel, T. A., Mann, A. J. D., Blakey, S. M., Aunon, F. M., Calhoun, P. S., Beckham, J. C., & Kimbrel, N. A. (2021). Diagnostic correlates of nonsuicidal self-injury disorder among veterans with psychiatric disorders. *Psychiatry Research*, 296, 113672. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113672</u>
- Patrick, M. E., & Azar, B. (2018). High-intensity drinking. *Alcohol Research*, *39*(1), 49-55. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30557148/
- Patrick, M. E., & Terry-McElrath, Y. M. (2019). Prevalence of high-intensity drinking from adolescence through young adulthood: National data from 2016-2017. *Substance Abuse: Research And Treatment*, 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1178221818822976</u>
- Pedregosa, F., Varoquaux, G., Gramfort, A., Michel, V., Thirion, B., Grisel, O., Blondel, M.,
  Pretenhoffer, P., Weiss, R., Dubourg, V., Vanderplas, J., Cournapeau, D., Brucher, M., &
  Duchesnay, M. P. E. (2011). Scikit-learn: Machine learning in Python. *Journal of*

Machine Learning Research, 12, 2825-2830.

https://www.jmlr.org/papers/volume12/pedregosa11a/pedregosa11a.pdf

- Plener, P. L., Schumacher, T. S., Munz, L. M., & Groschwitz, R. C. (2015). The longitudinal course of non-suicidal self-injury and deliberate self-harm: A systematic review of the literature. *Borderline Personality Disorder And Emotion Dysregulation*, 2(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40479-014-0024-3
- Plener, P. L. (2021). COVID-19 and nonsuicidal self-injury: The pandemic's influence on an adolescent epidemic. *American Journal of Public Health*, 111(2), 195-196. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.306037
- Pokorny, A. D. (1983). Prediction of suicide in psychiatric patients: Report of a prospective study. Archives of General Psychiatry, 40(3), 249-257. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1983.01790030019002
- Read, J. P., Beattie, M., Chamberlain, R., & Merrill, J. E. (2008). Beyond the "binge" threshold: Heavy drinking patterns and their association with alcohol involvement indices in college students. *Addictive Behaviors*, 33(2), 225-234.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2007.09.001

- Read, J. P., Kahler, C. W., Strong, D. R., & Colder, C. R. (2006). Development and preliminary validation of the young adult alcohol consequences questionnaire. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 67(1), 169-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2006.67.169</u>
- Rajkomar, I., Oren, E., Chen, K., Dai, A. M., Hajaj, N., Hardt, M., Liu, P. J., Liu, X., Marcus, J.,Sun, M., Sundberg, P., Yee, H., Zhang, K., Zhang, Y., Flores, G., Duggan, G. E., Irvine,J, Le, Q., Litsch, K., ... Dean, J. (2018). Scalable and accurate deep learning with

electronic health records. NPJ Digital Medicine, 1(1), 1-10.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-018-0029-1

- Ribeiro, J. D., Franklin, J. C., Fox, K. R., Bentley, K. H., Kleiman, E. M., Chang, B. P., & Nock,
  M. K. (2016a). Self-injurious thoughts and behaviors as risk factors for future suicide ideation, attempts, and death: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychological Medicine*, 46(2), 225-236. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291715001804
- Ribeiro, J. D., Franklin, J. C., Fox, K. R., Bentley, K. H., Kleiman, E. M., Chang, B. P., & Nock,
  M. K. (2016b). Letter to the editor: Suicide as a complex classification problem: Machine learning and related techniques can advance suicide prediction a reply to Roaldset (2016). *Psychological Medicine*, *46*(9), 2009-2010.
  https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291716000611
- Rizzo, S., Del Grande, F., Wannesson, L., Froesch, P., Giannetto, G., & Petrella, F. (2020).
  Recent developments and advances in secondary prevention of lung cancer. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 29(4), 321-328.

https://doi.org/10.1097/CEJ.000000000000586

- Schroff, F., Kalenichenko, D., & Philbin, J. (2015). Facenet: A unified embedding for face recognition and clustering. *IEEE Conference On Computer Vision And Pattern Recognition*, 2015, pp. 815-823. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPR.2015.7298682</u>
- Selzer, M. L. (1971). The Michigan alcoholism screening test: The quest for a new diagnostic instrument. American Journal of Psychiatry, 127(12), 1653-1658. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ajp.127.12.1653</u>

Shin, S. H., Hong, H. G., & Jeon, S.-M. (2012). Personality and alcohol use: The role of impulsivity. *Addictive Behaviors*, 37(1), 102-107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.09.006

Shivani, R., Goldsmith, R. J., & Anthenelli, R. M. (2002). Alcoholism and psychiatric disorders: Diagnostic challenges. *Alcohol Research & Health*, 26(2), 90-98. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6683829/</u>

- Skansi, S. (2018). *Introduction to deep learning: From logical calculus to artificial intelligence*. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-73004-2</u>
- Squeglia, L. M., Jacobus, J., & Tapert, S. F. (2009). The influence of substance use on adolescent brain development. *Clinical EEG and Neuroscience*, 40(1), 31-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/155005940904000110</u>
- Srivastava, N., Hinton, G., Krizhevsky, A., Sutskever, I. & Salakhutdinov, R. (2014) Dropout: A simple way to prevent neural networks from overfitting. *Journal of Machine Learning Research*, 15(56), 1929–1958. <u>https://jmlr.org/papers/v15/srivastava14a.html</u>
- Steger, M. F. (2016). Hedonia, eudaimonia, and meaning: Me versus us; fleeting versus enduring. In J. Vittersø (Ed.), *Handbook of eudaimonic well-being* (pp. 175-182). Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-42445-3\_11</u>
- Steger, M. F., Frazier, P., Oishi, S., & Kaler, M. (2006). The meaning in life questionnaire:
  Assessing the presence of and search for meaning in life. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 53(1), 80-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.53.1.80</u>
- Tan, C., Sun, F., Kong, T., Zhang, W., Yang, C., & Liu, C. (2018, October). A survey on deep transfer learning [Conference paper]. In V. Kůrková, Y. Manolopoulos, B. Hammer, L.

Iliadis, & I. Maglogiannis (Eds.), ICANN 2018, *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, *11141*, pp. 270-279. Springer, Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-01424-7\_27</u>

- Tang, W. C., Lin, M. P., You, J., Wu, J. Y. W., & Chen, K. C. (2021). Prevalence and psychosocial risk factors of nonsuicidal self-injury among adolescents during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Current Psychology*, 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12144-021-</u> 01931-0
- Torous, J., Larsen, M. E., Depp, C., Cosco, T. D., Barnett, I., Nock, M. K., & Firth, J. (2018).
   Smartphones, sensors, and machine learning to advance real-time prediction and interventions for suicide prevention: A review of current progress and next steps. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 20(7), 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-018-0914-y
- van der Maaten, L., & Hinton, G. (2008). Visualizing data using t-SNE. Journal of Machine Learning Research, 9(Nov), 2579-2605.

http://www.jmlr.org/papers/volume9/vandermaaten08a/vandermaaten08a.pdf

- Van Orden, K. A., Witte, T. K., Cukrowicz, K. C., Braithwaite, S. R., Selby, E. A., & Joiner, T. E., Jr. (2010). The interpersonal theory of suicide. *Psychological Review*, *117*(2), 575-600. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018697</u>
- Viner, R. M., & Taylor, B. (2007). Adult outcomes of binge drinking in adolescence: Findings from a UK national birth cohort. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 61(10), 902-907. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2005.038117</u>
- Walsh, C. G., Ribeiro, J. D., & Franklin, J. C. (2017). Predicting risk of suicide attempts over time through machine learning. *Clinical Psychological Science*, 5(3), 457-469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2167702617691560</u>

- Wang, L., & Miller, L. C. (2020). Just-in-the-moment adaptive interventions (JITAI): A metaanalytical review. *Health Communication*, 35(12), 1531-1544. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2019.1652388</u>
- White, A. M., Kraus, C. L., & Swartzwelder, H. S. (2006). Many college freshmen drink at levels far beyond the binge threshold. *Alcoholism: Clinical & Experimental Research*, 30(6), 1006-1010. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2006.00122.x</u>
- Whiteside, S. P., & Lynam, D. R. (2001). The five factor model and impulsivity: Using a structural model of personality to understand impulsivity. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 30(4), 669-689. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00064-7
- World Health Organization. (2019, September 27). *Global status report on alcohol and health* 2018. Author. <u>https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789241565639</u>
- Yarkoni, T., & Westfall, J. (2017). Choosing prediction over explanation in psychology: Lessons from machine learning. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 12(6), 1100-1122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617693393</u>

APPENDICES

### APPENDIX A

### VARIABLES INCLUDED IN ANALYSES

## Table 1-A

#### Variables Included in Analyses

Variable Na	me Description		
Demographics			
Dem1	What is your date of birth? (mm/dd/yyyy)		
Dem2	What is your sex?		
Dem3_1	What is your race? {Choose all that apply} American Indian or Alaska Native		
Dem3_2	What is your race? {Choose all that apply} Asian		
Dem3_3	What is your race? {Choose all that apply} Black or African American		
Dem3_4	What is your race? {Choose all that apply} Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander		
Dem3_5	What is your race? {Choose all that apply} White		
Dem3_6	What is your race? {Choose all that apply} Do not wish to respond		
Ethnicity1	What is your ethnicity? {Choose all that apply} Hispanic or Latino		
Ethnicity2	What is your ethnicity? {Choose all that apply} Not Hispanic or Latino		
Ethnicity3	What is your ethnicity? {Choose all that apply} Do not wish to respond		
Sensation Se	eeking Personality Type Questionnaire		
SSPT1	I like to do things that other people think are dangerous.		
SSPT2	I enjoy participating in unsafe activities.		
SSPT3	I don't enjoy trying new things.		
SSPT4	I avoid activities if there is a chance that I could get hurt.		
SSPT5	I would describe myself as careful and cautious.		
SSPT7	I do not do things if I know that doing them would be bad for me.		
SSPT8	I think variety is what makes life interesting.		
SSPT9	I think it is important to try as many new things as I can.		
SSPT10	I do things even if I know that doing them will get me in trouble.		
SSPT11	I love challenging myself with new and interesting tasks.		
SSPT14	I think that excitement is more important than safety.		
SSPT15	I have the most fun when I am doing risky or dangerous things.		
SSPT16	I rarely do things that seem risky.		
SSPT17	I like to experience anything and everything I can.		
SSPT18	I don't often act in a way that people approve of.		
SSPT21	I enjoy the unfamiliar.		
SSPT22	I like to explore new areas.		
SSPT23	I do not like surprises.		
SSPT24	I am curious.		
UPPS-P Impulsive Behavior Scale			
UPPS_P4	I generally like to see things through to the end.		

Variable Nar	Description		
UPPS_P6	My thinking is usually careful and purposeful.		
UPPS_P10	When I am in great mood, I tend to get into situations that could cause me problems.		
UPPS_P14	Unfinished tasks really bother me.		
UPPS_P16	I like to stop and think things over before I do them.		
UPPS_P17	When I feel bad, I will often do things I later regret in order to make myself feel better now.		
UPPS_P19	Once I get going on something I hate to stop.		
UPPS_P20	I tend to lose control when I am in a great mood.		
UPPS_P22	Sometimes when I feel bad, I can't seem to stop what I am doing even though it is making me feel worse.		
UPPS_P27	I finish what I start.		
UPPS_P28	I tend to value and follow a rational, "sensible" approach to things.		
UPPS_P29	When I am upset I often act without thinking.		
UPPS_P34	When I feel rejected, I will often say things that I later regret.		
UPPS_P35	Others are shocked or worried about the things I do when I am feeling very excited.		
UPPS_P48	I usually think carefully before doing anything.		
UPPS_P52	I tend to act without thinking when I am really excited.		
Difficulties v	vith Emotion Regulation Scale		
DERS2	I pay attention to how I feel.		
DERS4	I have no idea how I am feeling.		
DERS5	I have difficulty making sense out of my feelings.		
DERS8	I care about what I am feeling.		
DERS9	I am confused about how I feel.		
DERS10	When I'm upset, I acknowledge my emotions.		
DERS12	When I'm upset, I become embarrassed for feeling that way.		
DERS13	When I'm upset, I have difficulty getting work done.		
DERS14	When I'm upset, I become out of control.		
DERS16	When I'm upset, I believe that I'll end up feeling very depressed.		
DERS18	When I'm upset, I have difficulty focusing on other things.		
DERS25	When I'm upset, I feel guilty for feeling that way.		
DERS26	When I'm upset, I have difficulty concentrating.		
DERS27	When I'm upset, I have difficulty controlling my behaviors.		
DERS28	When I'm upset, I believe that there is nothing I can do to make myself feel better.		
DERS29	When I'm upset, I become irritated with myself for feeling that way.		
DERS32	When I'm upset, I lose control over my behaviors.		
DERS35	When I'm upset, it takes me a long time to feel better.		
Form and Function of Self-injury Scale			
FAFSI62	How old were you the first time you hurt yourself on purpose?		
FAFSI63	How many times in your life have you hurt yourself on purpose?		
FAFSI64	How many times in the last 12 months have you hurt yourself on purpose?		
FAFSI65	How many times in the last 30 days have you hurt yourself on purpose?		
Meaning in Life			
MLQ1	I understand my life's meaning.		
MLQ2	I am looking for something that makes my life feel meaningful.		
MLQ3	I am always looking to find my life's purpose.		

Variable Name Description			
MLQ4	My life has a clear sense of purpose.		
MLQ5	I have a good sense of what makes my life meaningful.		
MLQ6	I have discovered a satisfying life purpose.		
MLQ7	I am always searching for something that makes my life feel significant.		
MLQ8	I am seeking a purpose or mission for my life.		
MLQ9	My life has no clear purpose.		
MLQ10	I am searching for meaning in my life.		
Risky Behav	ior Inventory- Alcohol		
R.Alc1	Have you ever consumed alcohol?		
R.Alc2	On how many days during the past 30 days did you consume alcohol?		
R.Alc3	On how many days during the past 30 days did you drink to the point of being drunk?		
R.Alc4	On how many days during the past 30 days did you pass out or get sick from drinking alcohol?		
R.Alc5	How old were you the first time you drank alcohol?		
R.Alc6	In the past 30 days, how many times have you consumed five or more drinks (if you are male) or		
	four or more drinks (if you are female) on one drinking occasion?		
R.Alc7	Think of the day you consumed the most alcohol in the last month: How many standard drinks did		
R Alc8	On this heaviest drinking day approximately how many hours passed from the beginning of the		
	first drink to the finishing of the last?		
R.Alc9_1	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during a TYPICAL week during the past month? – Sunday		
R.Alc9_2	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during a TYPICAL week during the past		
R.Alc9_3	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during a TYPICAL week during the past month? – Tuesday		
R.Alc9_4	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during a TYPICAL week during the past		
R.Alc9_5	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during a TYPICAL week during the past		
R.Alc9_6	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during a TYPICAL week during the past		
R.Alc9_7	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during a TYPICAL week during the past month? Saturday		
R.Alc10_1	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during the week of HEAVIEST		
R.Alc10_2	consumption last month? – Sunday How many standard drinks did you consume each day during the week of HEAVIEST		
R Alc10 3	consumption last month? – Monday How many standard drinks did you consume each day during the week of HEAVIEST		
1010_3	consumption last month? – Tuesday		
R.Alc10_4	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during the week of HEAVIEST		
P Alc10 5	consumption last month? – Wednesday		
K.AIC10_3	consumption last month? – Thursday		
R.Alc10_6	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during the week of HEAVIEST consumption last month? – Friday		
R.Alc10_7	How many standard drinks did you consume each day during the week of HEAVIEST consumption last month? – Saturday		
Risky Behavior Inventory- Substance use			
R.Sub1	Have you ever smoked a cigarette?		
R.Sub1a	How old were you the first time you smoked a cigarette?		

Variable Nan	ne Description
R.Sub1b	How many times have you smoked cigarettes in the last 30 days?
R.Sub1e	How many times have you smoked cigarettes in the last 6 months?
R.Sub1g	For an average week, how many times do you smoke cigarettes?
R.Sub2	Have you ever used tobacco not in cigarette form (i.e., chewing tobacco)?
R.Sub2a	How old were you the first time you used tobacco not in cigarette form (i.e., chewing tobacco)?
R.Sub2b	How many times have you used tobacco not in cigarette form in the last 30 days?
R.Sub2e	How many times have used tobacco not in cigarette form in the last 6 months?
R.Sub2g	For an average week, how many times do you use tobacco not in cigarette form?
R.Sub3	Have you ever used marijuana (smoked or other method)?
R.Sub3a	How old were you the first time you used marijuana?
R.Sub3b	How many times have you used marijuana in the last 30 days?
R.Sub3e	How many times have used marijuana 6 months?
R.Sub3g	For an average week, how many times do you use marijuana?
R.Sub14	Have you ever used a substance not yet mentioned to get high?
R.Sub14b	How old were you the first time you used this substance?
R.Sub14c	How many times have you used this substance in the last 30 days?
R.Sub14f	How many times have you used this substance in the last 6 months
R.Sub14d	How many times in your life have you used this substance?
R.Sub14h	For an average week, how many times do you use this substance?
R.Sub16	Have you ever used a combination of substances to get a better high?
R.Sub16b	How many times have you combined these drugs in the last 30 days?
R.Sub16d	How many times have you combined these drugs in the last 6 months?
R.Sub16c	How many times in your life have you combined these drugs?
R.Sub18	On how many of the last 30 days did you hang out with more than 3 people in a social situation (including parties) where drugs or alcohol were present?[If you wish to not respond, please enter - 99 to continue]
R.Sub18a	In how many of these situations did you use alcohol or drugs to the point of being drunk or high?
R.Sub19	Have you ever used alcohol or drugs to the point of being drunk or high when you were alone?
R.Sub19a	In the last 30 days, how many days were you alone when you used drugs or alcohol?
R.Sub19c	In the last 6 months, how many days were you alone when you used drugs or alcohol?
R.Sub19b	On how many days in your lifetime were you alone when you used drugs or alcohol?
R.Sub20	On how many of the last 30 days did you use any alcohol or drugs to the point of being drunk or high regardless of where you were or who you were with?
R.Sub21	Have you ever gone to school or work while drunk or high?
R.Sub21a	How many times did you go to school while you were drunk or high in the last 30 days?
R.Sub21c	How many times in your life did you go to school while you were drunk or high?
R.Sub22	Have you ever missed school, work, or social engagements because you were drunk or high?
R.Sub23	Have you ever used alcohol or drugs while driving? (do not count medication taken for medical reasons)
R.Sub26	Have you ever self-harmed (cut yourself, burned yourself, bit yourself, etc.) while drunk or high?
R.Sub29	Have you ever used alcohol or drugs in the morning/when you first wake up (not including caffeine or tobacco) to get drunk or high?
R.Sub29a	How many times have you used alcohol or drugs in the morning/when you first wake up during the last 30 days?
R.Sub29c	How many times in your life have you used alcohol or drugs in the morning/when you first wake up?

Variable Nan	ne Description		
R.Sub33	Have you ever been in treatment for alcohol or drug abuse or dependence/addiction?		
Risky Behavior Inventory- Sex			
R.Sex2	Have you ever performed oral sex on anyone?		
R.Sex2a	How old were you the first time you performed oral sex on someone?		
R.Sex2b	How many times in the last 30 days have you performed oral sex on someone?		
R.Sex2c	How many different people have you performed oral sex on in the last 30 days?		
R.Sex2d	How many times in the last 12 months have you performed oral sex on someone?		
R.Sex2e	How many different people have you performed oral sex on in the last 12months?		
R.Sex2f	How many times in your life have you performed oral sex on someone?		
R.Sex2g	How many different people have you performed oral sex on in your life?		
R.Sex3	Have you ever had oral sex performed on you?		
R.Sex3a	How old were you the first time oral sex was performed on you?		
R.Sex3b	How many times in the last 30 days was oral sex performed on you?		
R.Sex3c	How many different people have performed oral sex on you in the last 30days?		
R.Sex3d	How many times in the last 12 months was oral sex performed on you?		
R.Sex3e	How many different people have performed oral sex on you in the last 12months?		
R.Sex3f	How many times in your life has oral sex been performed on you?		
R.Sex3g	How many different people have performed oral sex on you in your life?		
R.Sex4	Have you ever had vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4a	How old were you the first time you had vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4b	How many times in the last 30 days have you had vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4c	How many different people have you had vaginal intercourse with in the last 30 days?		
R.Sex4d	How many times in the last 12 months have you had vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4e	How many different people have you had vaginal intercourse with in the last 12 months?		
R.Sex4f	How many times in your life have you had vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4g	How many different people have you had vaginal intercourse with in your life?		
R.Sex4h	Have you ever had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4i	How old were you the first time you had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4j	How many times in the last 30 days have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4k	How many different people have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse with in the last 30 days?		
R.Sex41	How many times in the last 12 months have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4m	How many different people have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse with in the last 12 months?		
R.Sex4n	How many times in your life have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex40	How many different people have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse with in your life?		
R.Sex4p R.Sex4q	How many of these people were you in a serious, committed, monogamous relationship with at the time you were having UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse with them? Of these, how many did you have UNPROTECTED vaginal intercourse with when you first met, before you were in a relationship with them?		
R.Sex4r	Have you ever had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4s	How old were you the first time you had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4t	How many times in the last 30 days have you had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse?		
R.Sex4u	How many different people have you had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse with in the last 30 days?		

Variable Nan	ne Description
R.Sex4v	How many times in the last 12 months have you had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse?
R.Sex4w	How many different people have you had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse with in the last 12 months?
R.Sex4x	How many times in your life have you had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse?
R.Sex4y	How many different people have you had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse with in your life?
R.Sex4z	How many of these people were you in a serious, committed, monogamous relationship with at the time you were having UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse with them?
R.Sex4aa	Of these, how many did you have UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse with when you first met, before you were in a relationship with them?
R.Sex5	Have you ever had anal intercourse?
R.Sex5a	How old were you the first time you had anal intercourse?
R.Sex5b	How many times in the last 30 days have you had anal intercourse?
R.Sex5c	How many different people have you had anal intercourse with in the last 30 days?
R.Sex5d	How many times in the last 12 months have you had anal intercourse?
R.Sex5e	How many different people have you had anal intercourse with in the last 12 months?
R.Sex5f	How many times in your life have you had anal intercourse?
R.Sex5g	How many different people have you had anal intercourse with in your life?
R.Sex5h	Have you ever had UNPROTECTED anal intercourse?
R.Sex5i	How old were you the first time you had UNPROTECTED anal intercourse?
R.Sex5j	How many times in the last 30 days have you had UNPROTECTED anal intercourse?
R.Sex5k	How many different people have you had UNPROTECTED anal intercourse with in the last 30 days?
R.Sex51	How many times in the last 12 months have you had UNPROTECTED anal intercourse?
R.Sex5m	How many different people have you had UNPROTECTED anal intercourse with in the last 12 months?
R.Sex5n	How many times in your life have you had UNPROTECTED anal intercourse?
R.Sex50	How many different people have you had UNPROTECTED anal intercourse with in your life?
R.Sex5p	How many of these people were you in a serious, committed, monogamous relationship with at the time you were having UNPROTECTED and intercourse with them?
R.Sex5q	Of these, how many did you have UNPROTECTED anal intercourse with when you first met,
R.Sex7	Have you ever had a sexual encounter (oral, vaginal and/or anal sex) with a member of the same sex as you?
R.Sex7a	How old were you the first time you had a sexual encounter with someone of the same sex as you?
R.Sex7b	How many times in the last 30 days have you had a sexual encounter with someone of the same sex as you?
R.Sex7c	How many different people of the same sex have you had a sexual encounter with in the last 30 days?
R.Sex7d	How many times in the last 12 months have you had a sexual encounter with someone of the same sex as you?
R.Sex7e	How many different people of the same sex have you had a sexual encounter with in the last 12 months?
R.Sex7f	How many times in your life have you had a sexual encounter with someone of the same sex as you?
R.Sex7g	How many different same sex partners have you had sexual intercourse with in your life?
R.Sex7h	Have you ever had UNPROTECTED vaginal or anal intercourse with a member of the same sex has you?
R.Sex7i	How many different same sex partners have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal or anal intercourse with in your life?

Variable Na	me Description	
R.Sex7j R.Sex7k	How many of these same sex partners were you in a serious, committed, monogamous relationshi with at the time you were having UNPROTECTED vaginal or anal intercourse with them? Of these, how many did you have UNPROTECTED vaginal or anal intercourse with when you	
R.Sex9	Have you ever had a one-night standa single sexual encounter (oral, vaginal, and/or anal sex) without an immediate plan for forming a long-term sexual or romantic relationship with the other individual?	
R.Sex9a	How old were you the first time you had a one-night stand?	
R.Sex9b	How many times in the last 30 days have you had a one-night stand?	
R.Sex9c	How many different people have you had a one-night stand with in the last 30 days?	
R.Sex9d	How many times in the last 12 months have you had a one-night stand?	
R.Sex9e	How many different people have you had a one-night stand with in the last 12 months?	
R.Sex9f	How many times in your life have you had a one-night stand?	
R.Sex9g	How many different people have you had a one-night stand with?	
R.Sex9h	Have you ever had UNPROTECTED vaginal or anal intercourse during a one-night stand?	
R.Sex9i	How many different people have you had UNPROTECTED vaginal or anal intercourse as part of one-night stand with in your life?	
R.Sex9j	Have you ever had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse during a one-night stand?	
R.Sex9k	How many different people have you had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse as part of a one-night stand with in your life?	
R.Sex11	Have you ever cheated on a partner in any way?	
R.Sex11a	How old were you the first time you cheated on a partner?	
R.Sex11b	How many times in the last 30 days have you cheated on a partner?	
R.Sex11c	How many different people have you cheated on a partner with in the last 30 days?	
R.Sex11d	How many times in the last 12 months have you cheated on a partner?	
R.Sex11e	How many different people have you cheated on a partner with in the last 12 months?	
R.Sex11f	How many times in your life have you cheated on a partner?	
R.Sex11g	How many different people have you cheated on a partner with in your life?	
R.Sex11i R.Sex11j	Have you ever had UNPROTECTED vaginal or anal intercourse while cheating on a partner? How many different people did you have UNPROTECTED vaginal or anal intercourse with while cheating on a partner in your life?	
R.Sex11k	Have you ever had UNDER PROTECTED vaginal intercourse while cheating on a partner?	
R.Sex11m	Did you cheat on a partner for the excitement/rush/dangerousness of the experience?	
R.Sex12	Have you ever had a sexual encounter (oral, vaginal, and/or anal sex) in exchange for alcohol, drugs, money, or other goods or services?	
R.Sex13	In your entire life how many DIFFERENT people have you had a sexual encounter with?	
R.Sex15	How often do you use condoms when having vaginal or anal intercourse with a serious partner?	
R.Sex16	How often do you use condoms when having vaginal or anal intercourse with casual partners?	
R.Sex17	How often do you use other forms of contraception besides condoms (i.e., birth control pills/patch/shot/ring, IUDs, spermicidal foam, etc.) when having vaginal intercourse?	
R.Sex18	Have you ever gotten tested for sexually transmitted diseases or infections?	
R.Sex25	Do you ask your partners if they have been recently tested for sexual transmitted diseases or infections before having sex?	
R.Sex25a R.Sex25b	What reason have you had for not asking your partner(s) if they have been recently tested for sexual transmitted diseases or infections? (Please check one response that is the most appropriate How many of these people were you in a serious, committed, monogamous relationship with at the time you were having sexual intercourse?	

Variable Na	me Description		
R.Sex25c	How many did you have sexual intercourse with, using withdrawal, when you first met, before you were in a relationship with them?		
R.Sex27	Have you have ever relied on withdrawal (i.e. "pull-out") as your method of contraception?		
R.Sex27a	How many times have you relied on withdrawal (i.e. "pull-out") as your method of contraception?		
Risky Beha	vior Inventory- Crime		
R.Cri1	Have you ever driven an automobile while underage?		
R.Cri1b	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with driving while underage?		
R.Cri1c	How many times have you been convicted for underage driving?		
R.Cri2	Have you ever driven without a valid driver's license (count expired, suspended, or revoked licenses or not having gotten a license, do not count simply driving without your driver's license with you)?		
R.Cri2b	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with driving without a valid driver's license?		
R.Cri2c	How many times have you been convicted for driving without a valid driver's license?		
R.Cri3	Have you ever operated a motorized vehicle under the influence of drugs or alcohol?		
R.Cri3b	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with driving without operated a motorized vehicle under the influence of drugs or alcohol?		
R.Cri3c	How many times have you been convicted for operating a motorized vehicle under the influence of drugs or alcohol?		
R.Cri7	Have you ever ridden in a car with someone who was driving while drunk or high?		
R.Cri7b	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with riding in a car with someone who was driving while drunk or high?		
R.Cri7c	How many times have you been convicted for riding in a car with someone who was driving while drunk or high?		
R.Cri11	When underage, did you ever violate the curfew laws of your area?		
R.Cri11b	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with violating curfew laws?		
R.Cri11c	How many times have you been convicted for violating curfew?		
R.Cri13	Have you ever shoplifted items?		
R.Cri13b	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with shoplifting?		
R.Cri13c	How many times have you been convicted for shoplifting?		
R.Cri17	Have you ever vandalized (damage, defacement, graffiti, tagging, etc.) public or private property?		
R.Cri17c	How many times have you been convicted for vandalizing public or private property?		
R.Cri18	Have you ever purchased alcohol or tobacco while under the legal age?		
R.Cri18c	How many times have you been convicted with purchasing alcohol or tobacco while under the legal age?		
R.Cri20	Have you ever sold illegal drugs?		
R.Cri20a	Would/did you consider yourself a drug dealer?		
R.Cri21	Have you ever carried a concealed weapon (include guns, knives, etc.)?		
R.Cri21c	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with carrying a concealed weapon?		
R.Cri21d	How many times have you been convicted carrying a concealed weapon?		
R.Cri24	Have you ever purposely harmed an animal?		
R.Cri24c	How many times have you been convicted for harming an animal?		
R.Cri25	Have you ever purposely set a fire to structures or wilderness area?		
R.Cri25c	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with purposely setting a fire to a structure or wilderness area?		
R.Cri25d	How many times have you been convicted for purposely setting a fire to a structure or wilderness area?		

Variable Na	me Description
R.Cri28	Have you ever taken a vehicle (car, motorcycle, boat, etc.) owned by someone you know (include family members) without their permission or against their wishes? Only include times when you planned on returning the vehicle.
R.Cri28a	Was this for joyriding?
R.Cri28b	Did you have a valid driver's license when you did this?
R.Cri28d	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with taking a vehicle without permission?
R.Cri29	Have you ever stolen a vehicle (car, motorcycle, boat, etc.)? Only include times when you did no plan on returning the vehicle.
R.Cri30	Have you ever gone into a structure (home, business, abandoned building) that you did not have permission to go in?
R.Cri30a	Was this with the intent to commit any crime inside (include to use drugs as a crime)?
R.Cri30d	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with going into a structure that you did not have permission to go in?
R.Cri30e	How many times have you been convicted for going into a structure that you did not have permission to go in?
R.Cri32	Have you ever assaulted another person (include physical fights)?
R.Cri32b	Have you ever been arrested for or charged with assaulting another person?
R.Cri32c	How many times have you been convicted for assaulting another person?
R.Cri37	Have you engaged in any other illegal activities that you have not already reported?
R.Cri37b	How many times have you done this illegal activity?
R.Cri37d	How many times have you been convicted for doing this illegal activity?
R.Cri38	Have you ever run from the police?

.

### APPENDIX B

# POTENTIAL OUTLIERS AND THEIR 95TH PERCENTILES

# Table 2-A

#### Potential Outliers and Their 95th Percentiles

Variable	College Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile	Clinical Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile
FAFSI63	190	495
FAFSI64	22	100
FAFSI65	2	32
R.Alc2	15	15
R.Alc3	10	10
R.Alc4	2	5
R.Alc6	10	10
R.Alc7	15	15
R.Alc8	8	10
R.Alc9_1	1	4
R.Alc9_2	0	2
R.Alc9_3	1	3
R.Alc9_4	1	3
R.Alc9_5	5	2
R.Alc9_6	10	9
R.Alc9_7	10	10
R.Alc10_1	3	7
R.Alc10_2	2	6
R.Alc10_3	2	6
R.Alc10_4	4	7
R.Alc10_5	7	6
R.Alc10_6	12	12
R.Alc10_7	12	12
R.Sub1b	53	183
R.Sub1e	215	345
R.Sub1g	8	8
R.Sub2b	30	7
R.Sub2e	100	51
R.Sub2g	8	1
R.Sub3b	50	78
R.Sub3e	300	860
R.Sub3g	9	9
R.Sub14c	30	9

Variable	College Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile	Clinical Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile
R.Sub14f	100	19
R.Sub14d	397	69
R.Sub14h	7	3
R.Sub16b	10	10
R.Sub16d	50	30
R.Sub16c	262	300
R.Sub19a	20	27
R.Sub19c	100	96
R.Sub19b	365	195
R.Sub21a	20	30
R.Sub21c	268	200
R.Sub29a	30	20
R.Sub29c	500	470
R.Sex2b	10	11
R.Sex2c	2	2
R.Sex2d	80	50
R.Sex2e	5	6
R.Sex2f	200	100
R.Sex2g	13	12
R.Sex3b	15	10
R.Sex3c	2	2
R.Sex3d	90	43
R.Sex3e	6	5
R.Sex3f	200	89
R.Sex3g	14	10
R.Sex4b	20	19
R.Sex4c	2	2
R.Sex4d	200	100
R.Sex4e	6	9
R.Sex4f	600	109
R.Sex4g	16	12
R.Sex4h	1	1
R.Sex4j	20	20
R.Sex4k	2	3
R.Sex41	150	100
R.Sex4m	4	7
R.Sex4n	361	157
R.Sex4o	9	9
R.Sex4p	4	4
R.Sex4q	5	5
R.Sex4r	1	1
R.Sex4t	20	15
R.Sex4u	2	1

Variable	College Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile	Clinical Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile
R.Sex4v	200	100
R.Sex4w	5	6
R.Sex4x	400	110
R.Sex4y	10	9
R.Sex4z	4	2
R.Sex4aa	5	5
R.Sex5b	3	3
R.Sex5c	1	1
R.Sex5d	15	6
R.Sex5e	3	3
R.Sex5f	30	8
R.Sex5g	4	3
R.Sex5h	1	1
R.Sex5j	3	3
R.Sex5k	1	1
R.Sex51	19	6
R.Sex5m	3	4
R.Sex5n	30	6
R.Sex50	4	4
R.Sex5p	2	1
R.Sex5q	2	3
R.Sex7b	14	3
R.Sex7c	2	2
R.Sex7d	60	30
R.Sex7e	7	3
R.Sex7f	150	18
R.Sex7g	16	5
R.Sex7h	1	1
R.Sex7i	10	5
R.Sex7j	4	2
R.Sex7k	6	3
R.Sex9b	2	2
R.Sex9c	2	2
R.Sex9d	8	7
R.Sex9e	7	6
R.Sex9f	17	11
R.Sex9g	12	8
R.Sex9h	1	1
R.Sex9i	10	12
R.Sex9j	1	1
R.Sex9k	10	2
R.Sex11b	1	4
R.Sex11c	1	3

Variable	College Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile	Clinical Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile
R.Sex11d	4	8
R.Sex11e	2	4
R.Sex11f	10	18
R.Sex11g	4	6
R.Sex11i	1	1
R.Sex11j	8	3
R.Sex11k	1	0
R.Sex111	3	1
R.Sex11m	3	4
R.Sex13	40	12
R.Sex25a	9	9
R.Sex25b	4	2
R.Sex25c	4	4
R.Sex27a	200	59
R.Cri1b	0	0
R.Cri1c	0	1
R.Cri2b	1	1
R.Cri2c	0	1
R.Cri3b	1	0
R.Cri3c	0	26
R.Cri7b	0	0
R.Cri7c	0	8
R.Cri11b	1	1
R.Cri11c	1	10
R.Cri13b	1	1
R.Cri13c	1	2
R.Cri17b	1	0
R.Cri17c	0	2
R.Cri18b	0	0
R.Cri18c	0	1
R.Cri20a	1	1
R.Cri20c	0	0
R.Cri20d	0	0
R.Cri21c	0	1
R.Cri21d	0	1
R.Cri24b	0	0
R.Cri24c	0	2
R.Cri25a	0	0
R.Cri25c	1	1
R.Cri25d	0	1
R.Cri28a	1	1
R.Cri28b	1	1
R.Cri28d	0	1

Variable	College Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile	Clinical Sample 95 <sup>th</sup> Percentile
R.Cri28e	0	1
R.Cri29a	0	1
R.Cri29b	1	0
R.Cri29d	0	0
R.Cri29e	0	0
R.Cri30a	1	1
R.Cri30d	0	1
R.Cri30e	0	1
R.Cri32b	1	1
R.Cri32c	0	3
R.Cri37b	100	137
R.Cri37c	1	0
R.Cri37d	2	1